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CORPORATE PROFILE e A F]fEsT

Linmark Group Limited is a fast growing one-stop global
sourcing and supply chain management solutions
provider for softgoods and hardgoods. It was founded
in 1964 in Taiwan as a buying agent for softgoods.

In 1998, the Group was acquired by Roly International
Holdings Ltd., a company listed on the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited, through its wholly-
owned subsidiary. In the same year, the Group diversified
into the sourcing of hardgoods.

The Group’s principal markets are Canada, the US and
Europe, and major customers include leading retail chain
operators, well-known brands, wholesalers, mail order
houses and department stores.

Over the years, Linmark has grown in leaps and bounds.
Today, the Group has presence in 25 cities in 17 countries
and territories, employing more than 690 staff. Combined
with our flexible modular business approach and a
professional management team, Linmark offers
comprehensive sourcing solutions to customers.
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About the cover HER&HE=

“To make a statement” is the visual theme of this annual
report. The symbol on the cover not only demonstrates Linmark’s
determination to become a preferred global buying agent, but
also heralds the Group’s future growth.
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MISSION STATEMENT e f&dn

With astute customer
focus and professional
management, to
differentiate and to
excel through delivering
the best supply chain
management solution

services.
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HIGHLIGHTS o %

Despite the general global downturn
last year, Linmark has pressed on with
Its expansion plans. This strategy has
not only resulted in an eventful year, but
has also paved the way for our

accelerated growth.
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e Began sourcing for retail outlets in §
the PRC i
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e Shipment volume at a record high of :**:ﬁﬁﬁlifﬁiiéﬂ F 52
approximately US$489.4 million for FY2002 %1 @ #B{EX)E 4.894 (BXTT

« Listed on the Main Board of The Stock ZeREERams —TT _FHANES
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in 3% BN [ 5 X S FTER BT

May 2002
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e Successful implementation of the
LOGON(Linmark Online Global
Operating Network) system
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT o XEHEE

The financial year ended 30 Apirl 2002 was a challenging yet rewarding
year for the Group. Globally, many economic uncertainties remained,
which inevitably hindered growth in many parts of the world. This has
been reflected in the sluggish demand in the US and in other major
markets, though consecutive reductions in interest rate have managed
to sustain consumer confidence.

For the year under review, the Group recorded a turnover of
approximately US$29,648,000 (HK$231,254,000). Profit from
operations was approximately US$8,568,000 (HK$66,830,000) whilst
net profit was approximately US$8,342,000 (HK$65,068,000). Basic
earnings per share stood at 1.67 US cents (13.03 HK cents). The board
of directors recommends the payment of a final dividend of 3.0 HK
cents per share (equivalent to 0.38 US cent per share, amounting to
approximately HK$19,422,000 or US$2,490,000 in total).

Against the backdrop of the global economy, the Group has continued
to make significant progress and has initiated a number of strategic
moves to generate value. Organic growth remained a key strategy. During
the year, we introduced a number of new services including social
compliance monitoring, market intelligence and product development,
and packaging and trim services to add value to our existing supply
chain management services. Our progress for the year was also marked
by the addition of two major customers and our successful diversification
into the PRC market as we began sourcing footwear for a major
distributor of consumer products, Midway Enterprises (Guang Zhou)
Ltd., a sister company of the Group.

Despite this significant progress, our operating results retreated in tandem
with the global market conditions. The 11 September attack also impacted
on our turnover by altering the buying patterns of our customers. This,
together with the set up costs associated with the strategic expansion of
new businesses, have undermined our profitability.
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Linmark Group MZ&H
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On the corporate front, our strengths were renewed as we welcome aboard
a number of new management members including our chief executive
officer, Mr. Steven Julien FENIGER, who has accumulated over 20 years
of experience in the retail and supply chain management industry.

Recognizing the importance of improving operational efficiency, we also
pursued the development and implementation of our LOGON system, a
web-based critical path management system linking up all our sourcing offices
together with our customers and the vendors of our customers.

We entered the new financial year with our successful listing on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 10 May
2002 — an extension of our bold mission delivering the difference. The
listing exercise received remarkable response. This important move
has not only provided us with the resources for future growth, but has
also further motivated our staff, our most invaluable asset.

Pushing forward, we have identified the following growth strategies:

e diversify market exposure with a focus on further penetrating the
European and Asian markets in order to capitalise on faster growing
economies

e increase contribution from hardgoods where orders are relatively
inelastic to economic conditions and enjoy higher margins

e allocate more resources to the newly-established value-added services
to broaden revenue stream

e review and restructure sourcing network whilst increasing network
coverage in the PRC which is expected to become the most important
production base

With renewed strengths, the Group is all set to embark on another phase of
fast growth. We will continue to adopt a top and bottom line growth strategy.
Generating new business through broader services and deeper market
coverage will be a major focus. Advancement in operational efficiency will
be of paramount importance. In addition, we will actively seek to further
stimulate growth by considering beneficial mergers and acquisitions. Together
with gradually improving market conditions, the management is confident
that the Group will reap better returns in the coming years.

Finally, on behalf of the board of directors, | would like to express my
sincere gratitude to all our staff for their hard work and to our shareholders
for their unrelenting support throughout the year.

WANG Lu Yen
Chairman
Hong Kong, 29 July 2002
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From left to right: Mr. Steven Julien FENIGER,
Mr. KHOO Kim Chéng,

Mr. WANG Lu Yen,

Mr._ KWOK Chi-Kueng &

Mr. FU Jin Ming, Patrick.
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REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER o 1THARFESE

Business Review

For the year, the Group reported shipment volume
of approximately US$489,378,000, 1.9% higher
than that of last year. The modest increase in shipment
volume was attributable to weakened orders from
the North American markets and voluntary price
cuts by garment factories. Turnover, comprised
commission income and sales of garment sourced by
the Group, was recorded at approximately
US$29,648,000, 8.8% lower than the previous year.
The commission income for the year dropped by
5.6%, despite a slight increase in shipment volume,
from approximately US$30,866,000 to approximately
US$29,135,000. This was partly attributable to the
lower than usual commission fee received from a
new customer, Warnaco Inc. (“Warnaco”) during the
ramp-up transitional period between February and
April 2002, due to the fact that part of the sourcing
work had already been done by Warnaco itself. Apart
from this, turnover was also negatively affected by a
major reduction in sales of garment by approximately
US$1,112,000 from approximately US$1,625,000 to
approximately US$513,000.

To a certain extent, the 11 September attack of last
year exacerbated the conditions prevailing in the North
American markets as customers started to defer
orders. However, such impact was only short-lived as
inventories were run down. The US government’s
concerted steps to slash interest rates also helped to
restore confidence. As a result, orders began to pick
up towards the end of the financial year.

Segmental Analysis by Market

With the introduction of new customers, the Group
was able to reduce its reliance on the Canadian market
from 43.3% to 37.4%. The management believes that
with the Group’s aggressive strategy of diversification
through the addition of new customers, the reliance
on the Canadian market will be further reduced in
the future.

Sourcing Network

The Greater China region will continue to be our most
important sourcing base due to the competitive labor
costs. Having become a member of the WTO, gradual
removal of the quota systems and their proposed
abolishment by 2005 is also expected to fuel this trend.

Growth of Shipment Volume
over Years
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To bring our customers the highest levels of convenience
and ease, we commenced the development of the
LOGON system, a web-based critical path management
system, in February 2001. The LOGON system which
links up the Group, its customers and the vendors of the
customers, permits a more integrated network by
automating the order tracking processes, ensuring timely
response to customer requirements. Initial
implementation of the system was completed on
schedule in June 2002 and further development and
integration have already begun.

Introduction of New Value-Added
Services

To enhance margins of business and develop more
revenue sources for the Group, several value-added
services were rolled out during the year. In January
2002, IGCS Group Limited was set up to focus on social
compliance monitoring services. In the same month,
the Group established its own product development
and market intelligence subsidiary, Trend Xpress, Inc.
Our commitment continued with the incorporation of
a new packaging and trim arm, CU Packaging &
Design (BVI) Limited in June 2002. In addition, the
Group’s quality assurance and social compliance
divisions have undergone significant expansion, with
the number of staff increased from 198 in April 2002
to 232 as at the date of this report. These services,
offered also on a modular basis, are designed to carve
out a greater market niche, helping us to maintain a
leading industry position.

Our Four New Value-Added Services

SERVICE
ASSURANCE
PRACTICES
ARE BUILT INTO
WORK
PROCESSES
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Product development and
market intelligence
services — leveraging our
global network, Linmark
provides the latest product
trends to help customers to
develop private label

business. In addition, we

also offer sample

developments based on
product specifications and
guidance on effective
branding.

Quality assurance services
— our quality assurance
team spans 15 countries
and territories, conducting
on-site visits to ensure all
products meet the quality
standards specified by
customers. Stringent
monitoring services include
pre-production review and
inspection of raw materials,
inline audit as well as final
audit.

Packaging and trim services
— as a truly one-stop sourcing
solutions provider, Linmark
supplies trim products with
particular reference to logo
related products, such as
labels, hang-tags, patches,
buttons, poly-bags,
packaging boxes and etc, to
customers. This allows us
to deliver the finished
products in a most timely
and cost effective manner.

Social compliance
monitoring services — to
ensure all products comply
with the specific legal and
ethical standards, Linmark
provides consultation and
monitoring services through
professional advice and
regular visits to factories.
This service is vital to the
upholding of goodwill and
market position of
customers.
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REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER e

Addition of New Customers
Notwithstanding the prevailing conditions, the Group
was successful in several important initiatives. In
February 2002, the Group started to source goods for
Warnaco, a leading apparel company for brands
including Calvin Klein® Jeans, Calvin Klein® Kids,
Chaps by Ralph Lauren® and Speedo® pursuant to a
three-year exclusive buying agency agreement with the
Group. And, in October 2001, the Group was appointed
buying agent of Virginware, a prominent underwear
and night wear brand in the UK. These strategic gains
have not only added to the Group’s credibility, but also
served as an important catalyst in driving new
business. Contributions from Warnaco for the financial
year was only partial. As Warnaco is already meeting
the aggressive shipment plan, we look forward to
realizing the full contribution from this new client in
the coming year.

Prospects

The financial year ending 30 April 2003 is a year of
opportunity for the Group. Having successfully listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, we are on the verge of a fresh drive for
progress.The Group will pursue a two-pronged
development strategy: externally, expansion of customer
base and market presence will be a main focus;
internally, the emphasis will be on the strengthening of
sourcing network and operational efficiency.

The Group has identified clear strategies to achieve
these goals. Enhancement of value—-added services will
be an important vehicle. In particular, the Group has
instituted major recruitment and training programmes
in its social compliance division to cater for surging
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customer demand. In anticipation of rising demand
in the private label business, the Group will strengthen
market intelligence and product development services.
Greater emphasis will also be placed on hardgoods to
enhance diversity in the industry. To prepare for this
leap, a new division head, Mr. Lynn THORNTON, who
has vast exposure in the hardgoods sourcing industry,
was recently appointed. The Group has also made
headway by securing a new US-based customer and
the first shipment is scheduled for August 2002. These
strategic moves aim to broaden the Group’s existing
scope of services, helping to open up additional
revenue sources.

The PRC’s entry to the WTO is expected to have a
two-fold impact on the supply chain management
industry. Firstly, gradual removal of quota systems will
reinforce the PRC’s position as a preferred manufacturing
base. Secondly, rising domestic demand will stimulate
imports to the PRC, driving demand for efficient supply
chain management services along with it. The Group
will seek to capitalise on these opportunities by vigorously
promoting its one-stop supply chain management
services to target customers in the PRC.

On the operations front, the management is committed
to improving the sourcing network, which will continue
to be another important asset. The opening of our
Shenzhen office in May 2002 set in motion a series of
network expansion plans in the PRC, enabling us to stay
in close proximity to the factories of vendors. Meanwhile,
expansion of the Tianjin and Shanghai offices is expected
to continue. At the same time, the Group will allocate
additional resources to upgrade the LOGON system to
incorporate other functions such as human resources,
quality assurance management as well as administrative
controls and other backend office support.

Furthermore, the Group is seeking accelerated growth
by considering beneficial mergers and acquisitions.
Creation of additional synergies will be of top priority and
the management remains cautiously optimistic with
regard to progress in this respect.

Meanwhile, the trend toward increased outsourcing
supply chain management services will create a
conducive background for the Group’s expansion. The
management is committed to building a powerful
customer-driven model and is determined to deliver the
best shareholders returns.

WITH

CHINA’sS

ENTRY INTO
THE wTO,
THE GROUP IS
LOOKING
AHEAD WITH
CONFIDENGE
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Financial Review

As at 30 April 2002, the Group’s cash on hand
amounted to approximately US$2,122,000 (2001:
US$1,319,000). As at year end, banking facilities
amounting to approximately US$1,026,000
(HK$8,000,000) were available. The Group has
continued to operate under a debt-free model with no
outstanding net debt as at year end except a hire
purchase loan for a motor vehicle at a net book value
of approximately US$60,000. Operating lease
commitment in respect of land and buildings
amounted to approximately US$2,150,000,
US$1,235,000 of which is payable within 1 year.
Current ratio was maintained at a strong level of 3.7.
Net asset value as at year end date was approximately
US$9,986,000. As at 30 April 2002, none of the
Group’s assets were subject to any charge.

Gearing ratio in terms of interest bearing borrowings
to shareholder’s fund was at 0.5%.

During the year, the Group’s capital solely comprised
shareholder’s equity.

During the year, the Group’s administrative expenses
have risen by 8.9% to approximately US$21,821,000
due to higher overheads as the number of employees
increased. Following a lower level of profit from
operations, the Group’s taxation dropped by 46.7% to
approximately US$261,000 for the year.

Risk of Currency Fluctuation

Majority of the Group’s transactions were denominated
in US dollars and Hong Kong dollars. The only exchange
rate exposure is in the settlement of certain
administrative expenses. Since Hong Kong dollar is
pegged to US dollar, the Group’s exchange risk is not
significant.

Dividend Policy

During the year, the board of directors has declared
and paid a total cash dividend of US$10,800,000
representing US$3,800,000 and US$7,000,000 of
interim dividend and special dividends, respectively. The
special dividends were made to settle the inter-company
accounts due to the listing exercise. The directors
recommend the payment of a final dividend of 3.0 HK
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Breakdown of Turnover by Market
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cents per share in respect of the year ended 30 April
2002 payable on or about 27 September 2002 to the
shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 13 September 2002.

Depending on our cash flow requirements, the Group
expects to distribute approximately 35% of annual
earnings as dividends.

Remuneration Policy and

Staff Development Scheme

As at 30 April 2002, the Group had 639 employees. The
total staff costs for the financial year amounted to
approximately US$12,771,000 (2001: US$11,199,000).

Under the Group’s remuneration policy, staff are
rewarded in line with market rate and in compliance
with statutory requirements of all jurisdictions where it
operates. The Group has established a performance-
based share option scheme to retain and motivate staff.

A “Senior Management Development Scheme” is also
in place to prepare talented managers to assume
director level responsibilities. In addition, regular on-
job training programmes are also designed to constantly
improve the skills and knowledge of staff.

Use of Proceeds of New Issue

The shares of the Company have been listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited since 10 May 2002. Information related to the
Group’s future plans was included in the prospectus of
the Company dated 30 April 2002 (the “Prospectus”).

Up to the date of this report, the net proceeds of the
share offer to which the Company was entitled, after
deduction of related expenses, of approximately
HK$226.5 million had not been utilized and had been
placed into fixed bank deposits. Such moneys will be
used in accordance with the plans of the Group as set
out in the Prospectus.

Steven Julien FENIGER
Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 29 July 2002
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT ¢ E=R SREEEE R

Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Lu Yen, aged 48, is the chairman of the
Company and presently responsible for the Group’s
corporate and strategic planning. Mr. Wang has also
been the chairman of Roly International Holdings Ltd.
(“Roly International”) since 2000. Mr. Wang joined
the Group in 1998. Mr. Wang has over 20 years of
experience in the trading and distribution business.
Mr. Wang was awarded Outstanding Businessman by
Taiwan’s Ministry of Economic Affairs in 1985 and was
formerly the chairman of Taiwan Business Association
(Hong Kong) Limited (formerly known as Taiwan
Businessmen’s Association (Hong Kong) Limited).
Mr. Wang holds a bachelor’s degree in Business
Administration from Soochow University, Taiwan.

Mr. Steven Julien FENIGER, aged 43, is the chief
executive officer of the Company and an executive
director. Mr. Feniger has substantial experience in the
apparel industry. Prior to joining the Group in 2001,
Mr. Feniger headed the Asia and Global Sourcing
Division of the US-listed apparel group, Warnaco Group,
an apparel manufacturer based in the US. Mr. Feniger
also served in various positions in Marks & Spencer
PLC during a 19 year career and held the position of
general manager of Asia regional head office in Hong
Kong from 1996 to 1998. Mr. Feniger holds a Bachelor
of Sciences degree (with Honours) in Management
Sciences from The Victoria University of Manchester,
the UK.

Mr. FU Jin Ming, Patrick, aged 57, is an executive
director. Mr. Fu joined the Group in 1969 in Taiwan
and became a regional vice president in 1987,
responsible for supervising offices in Hong Kong, the
PRC, Thailand and the Philippines. Mr. Fu has extensive
experience in the sourcing industry, particularly in
garment. Mr. Fu is now responsible for the Group’s
offices in South Korea, Hong Kong, Shanghai, Taiwan,
Tianjin and Shenzhen. Mr. Fu holds a Bachelor of Arts
degree from Fu Jen Catholic University of Taiwan and
participated in the “Retail Executive Development
Programme” at The University of British Columbia,
Canada.
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Mr. KHOO Kim Cheng, aged 51, is an executive
director. Mr. Khoo has also been an executive director
of Roly International since 1995. Mr. Khoo advises the
Group on corporate finance related matters. Mr. Khoo
has approximately 10 years of experience in corporate
finance and financial management industry. Mr. Khoo
was involved in the listing of Roly International on the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited in 1996.
Mr. Khoo worked for an international accounting firm
and an investment bank prior to joining a subsidiary of
Roly International in 1994. Mr. Khoo holds a Master of
Business Administration degree from Southern
Methodist University, Dallas, Texas. Mr. Khoo is a
Certified Public Accountant in the US and an associate
member of the Hong Kong Society of Accountants.

Mr. KWOK Chi Kueng, aged 44, is an executive
director and the finance director of the Company
responsible for the finance and human resources
functions of the Group. Mr. Kwok joined the Group in
1993. Mr. Kwok has approximately 20 years of
accounting and financial management experience
gained in Hong Kong and Canada in the trading and
manufacturing industries. Mr. Kwok holds a Higher
Diploma in Accountancy from Hong Kong Polytechnic
(now known as Hong Kong Polytechnic University). Mr.
Kwok is an associate member of the Chartered Institute
of Management Accountants (UK) and a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Society of Accountants.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Arthur Minshiang, aged 41, is an
independent non-executive director. Mr. Wang is also the
managing partner of 698 Capital (HK) Limited, a private
company based in Hong Kong whose principal activity is
investment in private high growth companies in the Asia
Pacific region. Previously, Mr. Wang was a co-founder and
executive director of KGI Asia Limited, the investment
banking arm of the Koos Group of Taiwan. Mr. Wang also
serves on the board of directors of several finance and
technology companies in the region and was previously a
member of the board of Softbank Investment International
(Strategic) Limited, the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and a branch of Softbank
Finance Corporation. Mr. Wang received his Juris Doctorate
degree from Yale Law School and practised corporate and
securities law in Hong Kong and New York. He also holds
a Bachelor of Arts degree from the University of California
at Los Angeles, the US.

Mr. WONG Wai Ming, aged 44, is an independent
non-executive director. Mr. Wong is the chief executive
officer of Global China Technology Group Limited, a
listed company in Hong Kong principally engaged in
newspaper publishing, sale of photographic products
and property holding. He is also the deputy chairman
of Sing Tao Holdings Limited, the shares of which are
also listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Wong has more than 14 years of experience in
investment banking business in Greater China. Before
joining Global China Technology Group Limited, Mr.
Wong was the deputy chief executive officer of the BOC
International Holdings Limited, the investment banking
arm of the Bank of China Group in Hong Kong. Mr.
Wong is a chartered accountant and holds a Bachelor
of Science degree from the University of Manchester,
Institute of Science and Technology, the UK. Mr. Wong
is also a member of the Listing Committee of the Stock
Exchange and an independent non-executive director
of Legend Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange principally engaged
in the sale and manufacture of personal computers and
related products and systems integration.
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Senior Management of the Group

Mr. Bruce Charles CAUSTON, aged 54, is the executive director of
PT Linmark Agency Indonesia responsible for operations in Indonesia,
Thailand, the Philippines, Singapore and Malaysia. He joined the Group
in 1993 as a general manager of the Indonesian office and became a
regional director in 1996. He also helps to develop the European market.
Mr. Causton has extensive experience in the trading industry.

Mr. Peter McDIARMID, aged 57, is the executive director of Linmark
Agency (BVI) Limited responsible for the offices in countries in the Indian
sub-continent including India, Sri Lanka, Pakistan, Bangladesh, the
African continent and Turkey. Mr. McDiarmid has been with the Group
since 1996 and has extensive experience in the buying industry and in
the manufacturing industry.

Mr. Lynn THORNTON, aged 49, is the hardgoods business director
of the Group. Mr. Thornton holds a Bachelors degree from the University
of Utah and an MBA from Thunderbird, American Graduate School of
International Management. Mr. Thornton brings to the Group
approximately 20 years of experience in hardgoods sourcing in Asia,
having served in increasingly responsible positions for Hallmark Cards
Inc., and The Walt Disney Company Asia Pacific. Prior to joining the
Group in June 2002, Mr. Thornton was vice president — social compliance
for The Walt Disney Company.

Mr. Jan ROSSEL, aged 37, is the quality assurance director of the
Group. Mr. Rossel brings to the Group with approximately 10 years of
experience in quality assurance. Prior to joining the Group in 2001, Mr.
Rossel was the director of overseas quality assurance for Sears Buying
Services, Inc. in Hong Kong. Mr. Rossel has also previously worked for
companies including Nike International Ltd., Amerex International
(H.K.) Ltd and Eddie Bauer International Limited in the area of quality
assurance.
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Mr. WONG Man Ho, Samuel, aged 39, is the general manager
responsible for the Group’s social compliance functions. Mr. Wong is
mainly responsible for developing and implementing the global
compliance programme in different regions. Mr. Wong set up the global
compliance network and communicates with the Group’s customers for
all the compliance status updates. Mr. Wong attended the SA8000
implementation workshop organised by Hong Kong Productivity Council
in 1999.

Ms. Gillian BELL, aged 36, is the executive director of Trend Xpress,
Inc. responsible for the Group’s product development, market intelligence
and research functions. Ms. Bell started her career with the Company in
the Sri Lankan office as the product development manager. Ms. Bell was
subsequently transferred to the Bangalore office in India and was then
moved to the head office in Hong Kong in 1998. Ms. Bell was awarded
a Bachelor of Arts degree by Crewe and Alsager College of Higher
Education and a Postgraduate Diploma in Clothing Technology by
Manchester Polytechnic. Prior to joining the Group in 1995, Ms. Bell
worked as a designer for a joint venture company with Mast Industries
while in Sri Lanka.

Mr. SEE Kian Kok, Steven, aged 38, is the corporate management
information system manager responsible for the Group’s information
technology. Mr. See has been with the Group since 1991 and has led
various computer projects for the Group. Mr. See is a Microsoft Certified
Systems Engineer (1998) and Sybase Certified PowerBuilder Developer
Associate (2000).

Company Secretary

Ms. CHEUNG Hoi Yin, Brenda, aged 34, is the company secretary
of the Company and Roly International. Ms. Cheung joined a subsidiary
of Roly International in 1997 as an assistant company secretary. Ms.
Cheung has over 10 years of company secretarial experience gained in
listed companies. Ms. Cheung holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in
Accountancy and is an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Company Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators, the UK.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE o X F]ER

The board of directors of the Company is committed to raising the
standard of corporate governance within the Group.

Board of Directors

The board comprises seven members, two of whom are independent
non-executive directors. Its functions are carried out either directly or
through board committees or by means of a system of delegation of
authority to management personnel. As an integral part of good corporate
governance, the following committees have been set up:

Executive Committee

The executive committee consists of the executive directors of the
Company. The board has delegated the day-to-day management and
operation functions of the Company to the executive committee save to
the extent that the powers and authorities are reserved to the
compensation committee or the full board. The powers and authorities
reserved to the full board include the approval of the Company’s financial
statements, dividends, change in share capital, certain material
transactions and matters involving a conflict of interest for a substantial
shareholder or a director.

Audit Committee

The audit committee comprises two members, namely Messrs. WANG
Arthur Minshiang and WONG Wai Ming, both of whom are independent
non-executive directors of the Company.

In compliance with the Code of Best Practice, the audit committee is set
up with written terms of reference prepared based on “A Guide for
Effective Audit Committees” published by the Hong Kong Society of
Accountants. The primary duties of the audit committee are to review
the Company’s annual report and accounts and half-year reports and to
provide advice and comments thereon to the directors. The members
meet regularly with the external auditors and the Company’s senior
management for the review and supervision of the Company'’s financial
reporting and internal control procedures.

Compensation Committee

The compensation committee, comprising Messrs. WONG Wai Ming,
WANG Arthur Minshiang, WANG Lu Yen and Steven Julien FENIGER,
has been delegated with the powers and authorities to implement the
share option scheme of the Company and to deal with all compensation
matters regarding the directors and senior management of the Company
and its subsidiaries in accordance with the terms and conditions of their
respective agreement/contract with the relevant member of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT ® EXEHREE

The directors present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Company from 25 January 2002 (date of
incorporation) to 30 April 2002 and of the Group for the year
ended 30 April 2002.

Corporate Reorganisation
The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 25 January
2002 as an exempted company with limited liability under

the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Pursuant to a group reorganisation to rationalise the
structure of the Group in preparation for the listing of the
Company’s shares on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the Company
became the holding company of the companies comprising
the Group on 22 April 2002. Details of the group
reorganisation are set out in the Company’s prospectus
dated 30 April 2002 (the “Prospectus”).

The shares of the Company have been listed on the Stock
Exchange since 10 May 2002 (the “Listing Date”).

Principal Activities
The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 34 to

the financial statements.

Results and Appropriations
The results of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2002 are
set out in the consolidated income statements on page 40.

During the year, a subsidiary distributed US$10.8 million to its
then shareholder prior to becoming a member of the Group.

Details are set out in note 9 to the financial statements.

The directors now recommend the payment of a final dividend
of 3.0 HK cents per share to the shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on 13
September 2002.
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Share Capital

Movements in the authorised and issued share capital of the
Company since its incorporation are set out in note 21 to the
financial statements.

Reserves
Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the year are set out in note 22 to the financial
statements.

Machinery and Equipment

Details of movements in the Group’s machinery and
equipment during the year are set out in note 11 to the
financial statements.

Share Options

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to a resolution of the sole shareholder
passed on 22 April 2002 for the primary purpose of
providing incentives or rewards to eligible persons for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group. Under the
Scheme, the board of directors of the Company or a
committee thereof may grant options to eligible persons
(Notes) to subscribe for shares of the Company. The Scheme
specifically excludes Mr. WANG Lu Yen from participating in
the Scheme so long as he remains as a substantial
shareholder (as such term is construed in accordance with
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)) of the Company.

Notes:
The eligible persons under the Scheme include:

(i) any director or proposed director (whether executive or non-
executive, including any independent non-executive director),
employee or proposed employee (whether full time or part time)
of the Group or the controlling shareholder of the Company; or

(i) any holder of any securities issued by the Group or the
controlling shareholder of the Company; or

(iii) any business partner, agent, consultant, representative, supplier

of goods or services or customer of the Group or the controlling
shareholder of the Company.
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Share Options (continued)

The initial total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue immediately following the
listing of the Company’s shares (which shall include the shares
issued pursuant to the exercise of the over-allotment option as
more particularly described in the Prospectus). Subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders, the aggregate number
of the Company’s shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
shall not exceed 30 per cent. of the Company’s shares in issue
from time to time. Options granted to the independent non-
executive directors or substantial shareholders or any of their
respective associates in excess of 0.1 per cent. of the Company’s
shares in issue and with a value in excess of HK$5 million must

be approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders.

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company to any eligible
persons (including those cancelled, exercised and outstanding
options), in any 12-month period up to the date of the latest
grant shall not exceed 1 per cent. of the Company’s shares in
issue. Any further grant of options in excess of such limit must

be separately approved by shareholders in general meeting.

Options granted must be taken up within 30 days inclusive of
the day on which such offer was made, upon payment of
HK$1 per option. Options may be exercised at any time
commencing on the date as the board may determine and
ending on such date as the board may determine but shall not
exceed 10 years from the date of grant. The exercise price is
determined by the directors of the Company, and will not be
less than the higher of the closing price of the Company’s
shares on the date of grant or the average closing price of the
shares for the five business days immediately preceding the

date of grant.
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Share Options (continued)
No options were granted or agreed to be granted under the
Scheme from its date of adoption to 30 April 2002.

Subject to the earlier termination of the Scheme in
accordance with the rules governing the Scheme, the
Scheme will expire on 22 April 2012.

Options to subscribe for shares of the Company were granted
to Category A Eligible Persons (as defined in the Scheme)
after 30 April 2002, details of which are shown as follows:

BRE (&)

B EEMAPE—_TE _FHWA=1+H
HE > ARRYEREZASRLAFER
{7 78 A o

BRIEZFTEIRBZT S 2 RARELRIE - 7
HEER —_E——FWOMA_+_HE®M-°

>\I\b“r|(

R-BT-4MA=+A% ARFAKTR
BARFRG 2 BREETE—EAEBA
(R RZHE) - ABEEOT

Number of

underlying shares

Date of grant Exercise price per share (HK$) Exercise period of the Company
RHBH BRTEE BT 1T fE A R HEAZALFAKROHE
21/05/2002 2.55 21/05/2003 - 20/05/2008 40,670,000
27/06/2002 2.22 27/06/2003 - 26/06/2008 3,260,000
Directors -

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive directors

WANG Lu Yen (appointed on 19 February 2002)
Steven Julien FENIGER (appointed on 22 April 2002)

FU Jin Ming, Patrick (appointed on 22 April 2002)
KHOO Kim Cheng (appointed on 19 February 2002)
KWOK Chi Kueng (appointed on 22 April 2002)

Independent non-executive directors

WANG Arthur Minshiang (appointed on 22 April 2002)
WONG Wai Ming (appointed on 22 April 2002)
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Directors (continued)

In accordance with bye-law 86(2) of the Company’s bye-
laws, Messrs. Steven Julien FENIGER, FU Jin Ming, Patrick,
KWOK Chi Kueng, WANG Arthur Minshiang and WONG Wai
Ming will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Each of Messrs. WANG Lu Yen, Steven Julien FENIGER, FU
Jin Ming, Patrick, KHOO Kim Cheng and KWOK Chi Kueng
has entered into a service agreement with the Company for an
initial term of three years commencing from 1 May 2002, and
will continue thereafter until terminated by either party by

giving to the other not less than six months’ notice in writing.

Each of the independent non-executive directors has been
appointed since 22 April 2002 for a term of two years
commencing from 1 May 2002 subject to the right of the
independent non-executive director to terminate his
appointment at any time by giving the Company at least one

month’s notice in writing.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without

payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

5E (#)
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Directors’ Interests in Shares

The interests of the directors and chief executives of the
Company in the equity or debt securities of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of the
Securities (Disclosure of Interests) Ordinance (the “SDI
Ordinance”)) which had to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to section 28 of the SDI
Ordinance (including any interests which they are taken or

EEzROERS
R-ZZE_FHEATH(LETHH) » XAF
EEZNTBTRABRARA SHEAE MR
B (RES (REER) GO (TRE#EF
B 2 EE) ZBAREHRZSF T?ﬁﬁbﬂt
RENBEEZEOIE - T NEAMEARR
KXz m (BRERB R EER MW%:
T IRIMRE R EERRSEG 2

deemed to have under section 31 of, or part 1 of the @) IRBRBEERGIE T NIEESS
Schedule to, the SDI Ordinance) or were required, pursuant Rz GBI it 2 Bt 2 s EJMETJ%tm
to section 29 of the SDI Ordinance, to be entered in the E,ﬁlqﬂtﬂ?’“ﬁﬁii?ﬁ’é# X 5 2 IR AE
register referred to therein, or were required, pursuant to the Bl EAMEARAD 5 R P2 B
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies in the Listing Rules, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, as at 10 May 2002, the
Listing Date, were as follows:
Number of shares held
FERAHE
Personal Family Corporate Other
Name of companies Name of directors interests interests interests interests Total
NCEE BEEnA B A% H EQY AR R Hi s @zt
The Company WANG Lu Yen — — 468,000,000 — 468,000,000
IN/N] TrE (Note 1)
(ftat1)
Roly International WANG Lu Yen 20,200,000 350,000 121,243,500 — 141,793,500
Holdings Ltd. FTHE (Note 3) (Note 4)
(“Roly International”) (Kt7£3) (Kf7x4)
(ZEERERERA
(T2REE]))
(Note 2)
(ft&2)
FU Jin Ming, Patrick 1,275,000 — — — 1,275,000
E {28
KHOO Kim Cheng 415,000 — — — 415,000
i 38 °R
KWOK Chi Kueng 290,000 — — — 290,000

5
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Directors’ Interests in Shares (continued)

EszkoEs @)

Number of shares held

FRRGEE
Personal Family Corporate Other
Name of companies Name of directors interests interests interests interests Total
AT E B B 8 AR & E £ AREH Hit i & Bt
Westman Linmark WANG Lu Yen 2 preference — — — 2 preference
(Thailand) Ltd. T%E shares shares
(Note 5) &R B xR
(it 52 5)

FU Jin Ming, Patrick 1 preference — — — 1 preference
{E & share share
BER BER
KHOO Kim Cheng 1 preference — — — 1 preference
B 88 °R share share
it it
KWOK Chi Kueng 1 preference — — — 1 preference
5 share share
it it

Notes: it

(1)

As at 10 May 2002, Mr. WANG Lu Yen, Mrs. WANG LIAW Bin
Bin, his wife, and Megastar Holdings Limited, a company
controlled by Mr. WANG Lu Yen, held approximately 36.0 per
cent. of the issued share capital of Roly International. Mr. WANG
Lu Yen is thus deemed, by virtue of the SDI Ordinance, to be
interested in all the shares in which Roly International is
interested.

As at 10 May 2002, Roly International, the ultimate holding
company of the Company, through RGS Holdings Limited, held
468,000,000 shares, representing 75.0 per cent. of the issued
share capital of the Company. As at 10 May 2002, the Listing
Date, the issued share capital of Roly International was
US$39,475,076.40 divided into 394,750,764 shares of US$0.10
each.

These shares in Roly International were held by Mrs. WANG
LIAW Bin Bin, the wife of Mr. WANG Lu Yen.

These shares in Roly International were held by Megastar
Holdings Limited, the entire issued share capital of which is
owned by Mr. WANG Lu Yen.

Westman Linmark (Thailand) Ltd. is a subsidiary of the Company.
As at 10 May 2002, the issued share capital of Westman Linmark
(Thailand) Ltd. was 6,000,000 Baht divided into 1,470 ordinary
shares of 2,000 Baht each and 1,530 preference shares of 2,000
Baht each.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

R_ZBZ_&ERA+H ITRELTLEREE
FTEWWLZETRATHBREEMESZ QA
Megastar Holdings Limited & 8 2 & B &
B HITIRAKI36.0% - At - RIFEHERES K
Bl - FHEEERBEEE R ERATHES
mZEEBRG

RZZFZ_FRA+TH ARAZRIERADA
2R EFRE® RGS Holdings Limited # A
468,000,000/% & 13 + 18 A A & B B /7T | A
75.0%c RZZEZ_FHA+H(EWAHH)
2EBER 2 B 38T AN539,475,076.40% 7T -
9 7%394,750,7640% B X E E0.10% T 2 i 17 °

ZE2RBERRNDBERELEEZETEMW
REIHE -

%% 2 B BB A% 15 B Megastar Holdings Limited
78 + Megastar Holdings Limited 2 & 3 2 %
TRABEHEEERESR -

Westman Linmark (Thailand) Ltd. & 7Z& 2 & 2 Hf
BAR - AZZEZET_FH A+ H ' Westman
Linmark (Thailand) Ltd. ZE#TRAAE
6,000,000Z= &k * 9 & 1,4700% & i% H 18 2,000%=
Sh2 E@EAR - A & 1,530R% & A% m {8 2,000%% &k
ZEER -
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Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or
Debentures

Pursuant to the share option schemes of Roly International,
the ultimate holding company, the directors and employees
of the Company may, at the discretion of the ultimate holding
company’s directors, be granted options to subscribe for
shares of the ultimate holding company. Particulars of the
outstanding options granted to the directors of the Company

as at the Listing Date, were as follows:

Number of underlying

EESRBEROIESF 2ER

REBEZEZERAT2EER 2 BRES
ARREEMEEAEGEERARESS
BIBREER A BB RAIER R R ) 288
Bt -REMBH  ARRERCERMH
RITEZEREDT :

Exercise price

Name of directors shares of Roly International per share (US$) Expiry date of option

EEpgE HBEZEZHBERRGOEHE BRITEE(ER) BRERE®B 5

Steven Julien FENIGER 1,000,000 0.130 06/03/2010

NER TR

FU Jin Ming, Patrick 150,000 0.150 09/02/2005

1% 1% BH 1,000,000 0.100 20/08/2009
1,000,000 0.130 06/03/2010

KHOO Kim Cheng 750,000 0.177 25/02/2003

B 87 °R 1,350,000 0.150 09/02/2005
1,500,000 0.100 20/08/2009
2,000,000 0.130 06/03/2010

KWOK Chi Kueng 150,000 0.150 09/02/2005

it 400,000 0.100 20/08/2009

400,000 0.130 06/03/2010

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company, or any of its holding companies, fellow
subsidiaries or subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.
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Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or

Debentures (continued)
After 30 April 2002, the executive directors of the Company

were granted the following options under the Scheme:

Name of directors

Date of grant

Number of underlying

shares of the Company

EESRBEROIESF 2N (@)

R-ZEZ_FHOA=+TH®E&  XRFEZHT
EEZREBEXEER T B

Exercise price

per share (HK$)

Exercise period

HBZEAF BRITEE

EEn Rt A ROEA (Br) TEHAR

Steven Julien FENIGER  21/05/2002 6,240,000 2.55  21/05/2003 - 20/05/2008
e 27/06/2002 1,660,000 (Note) 222 27/06/2003 - 26/06/2008

(Kfat)

FU Jin Ming, Patrick 21/05/2002 4,200,000 2.55  21/05/2003 - 20/05/2008
& &8

KHOO Kim Cheng 21/05/2002 3,800,000 2.55  21/05/2003 - 20/05/2008
i

KWOK Chi Kueng 21/05/2002 3,000,000 2.55  21/05/2003 - 20/05/2008

HER

Note:

An option entitling Mr. Steven Julien FENIGER to subscribe for
6,240,000 shares, which represent 1 per cent. of the total number of
shares then in issue, was granted to him on 21 May 2002. Pursuant to
Rule 4(E) of the Scheme, any further grant of option to him during the
period from 21 May 2002 and 20 May 2003 would require
shareholders’ approval. Hence, the grant of option to Mr. Feniger on 27
June 2002 would be conditional upon obtaining shareholders’ approval
and the Company intends to obtain such approval at the forthcoming

annual general meeting of the Company.

iz

EEEEENR-_ZZ_FAA -+ - HER—HAR
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1%) 2 BERHE - RIBZFTEIFAEERY RZEE
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Connected Transactions and Related Party
Transactions

During the year ended 30 April 2002, as the shares of the
Company had not been listed on the Stock Exchange, the
transactions between the Company or its subsidiaries on the
one part and their related parties on the other only
constituted related party transactions, but not connected
transactions which are required to be disclosed under
Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. Details of the related party
transactions for the year are set out in note 31 to the

financial statements.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

Save as disclosed in note 31 to the financial statements, no
contracts of significance to which the Company, any of its
holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

Substantial Shareholders

The Company became a listed company on 10 May 2002.
The register of substantial shareholders maintained under
Section 16(1) of the SDI Ordinance showed that the following
shareholders had an interest of 10 per cent. or more in the

issued share capital of the Company as at that date:

Number of shares

BEXZRAEBEALRS

RBEE—FTT_FOA=FTHLFE AR
RATRD W AREBRT LT - AAFISE
MEBARI(ER—H) HEEBREALT (RS
—HETZRGRABEXEAEALTRS @

X

WHFETRAUAFETTNERERE 2 BES
5 AEERBEALRZGZFHBHRMT
HEMEE3L -

S5

EECaESR

BB HREMEIIIAREEIN  ARRHE
EAERRR - FRME QB E QB
4 22 B 5T ST AE (] IO AN 4R AR BN B (R E ] B
MABRZERNAGH > MARREFERNL
REEEPHEBEEANED

FERR

ARARARZZETEZFREATHEHKARLETA
Al BAAREREBEBEERIROIE /()
BEECEERETERZMAST  THRER
ZBBEBERRABEETRALIOPH A £ 21

B

S

Approximate percentage
of issued shares
of the Company held

Name of substantial shareholders of the Company held s RARE BT
TERRERE HA iR R R5EE BHHBAE DL
RGS Holdings Limited RGS Holdings Limited 468,000,000 75%
Roly International (Note 1) ERER (K1) 468,000,000 75%
WANG Lu Yen (Note 2) T8 (a2 468,000,000 75%
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Substantial Shareholders (continued)
Notes:

1. RGS Holdings Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Roly
International. Roly International, by virtue of the SDI Ordinance,
is deemed to be interested in all the shares of the Company in
which RGS Holdings Limited is interested.

2. Mr. WANG Lu Yen, together with Mrs. WANG LIAW Bin Bin, his
wife, and Megastar Holdings Limited, a company controlled by
Mr. WANG Lu Yen, hold approximately 36.0 per cent. of the
issued share capital of Roly International and Mr. WANG Lu Yen
is thus deemed, by virtue of the SDI Ordinance, to be interested
in all the shares of the Company in which Roly International is
interested.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified
of any other interests representing 10 per cent. or more of

the Company’s issued share capital.

Major Customers and Vendors of the Group’s
Customers

During the year, the five largest customers of the Group in
aggregate accounted for approximately 63.0 per cent. of the
turnover of the Group and the largest customer accounted
for approximately 37.3 per cent. of the turnover of the
Group.

The five largest vendors of the Group’s customers in
aggregate accounted for less than 10 per cent. of the

Group’s total shipment value of products for the year.

None of the directors, their respective associates or any
shareholders of the Company (which, to the knowledge of
the directors, own more than 5 per cent. of the issued share
capital of the Company) had any interest in any of the five
largest customers of the Group for the year ended 30 April
2002.

TERR (@)
Witk -

1.  RGS Holdings Limited &2 & B % 2 2 &K &
~aE - Bt BEEBEERGS - 2EERE
B A%A RGS Holdings Limited FTEB w2
EEHARA RS o

2. IHBELEEREEZTEWHZLIRATRE
S HE P4l 2 A Al Megastar Holdings Limited
AEHEBEZEHBEREBEITRA4L36.0% Bt -
BEFEESEDN  TRBEEEFRRAEES
BB E DR 2B ADERMD -

B EXFEEEIN  ARRLTHEE EM
HMARREBEITRAL0%k A £ 2 #

)

B

ITREFRAGREREF ZHED

RAEE  AEBARRATFALOBER
SEEXE63.0%  ERHZARK—REF AL
REBERE 2373% °

AEBEFPZAREAEERAXEAEE
RAFEZERMNEREBELRI0% -

ARAZEE RESBZHMBALTRER
BR(BESEMAREEARARADEITHRA
ZR%E)MERAEEHE_TT _FNO
A=Z+tBLEEZENAREATEFHEE
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of The Company’s
Listed Securities

As the Company only became a listed company on 10 May
2002, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year.

Pre-emptive Rights
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

Financial Summary
A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last four financial years is set out on pages 90

and 91 of the annual report.

Corporate Governance

As the Company only became a listed company on 10 May
2002, the requirements of the Code of Best Practice as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the “Code of Best
Practice”) apply to the Company from that date onwards.

The Company has complied with the Code of Best Practice
since the Listing Date and up to the date of this report.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an audit committee on 22
April 2002 with written terms of reference in compliance with
the Code of Best Practice. The audit committee has two
members comprising the two independent non-executive
directors, namely, Mr. WANG Arthur Minshiang and Mr.
WONG Wai Ming.
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Auditors

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu have been acting as
auditors of the Company since its incorporation on 25
January 2002.

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to re-appoint them.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

WANG Lu Yen

Chairman

Hong Kong
29 July 2002
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AUDITORS’ REPORT ® #ZBEIHEF

RE) - BI=EROBEIE1T

Certified Public Accountants i3 & £

26/F, Wing On Centre B

111 Connaught Road Central ~ FRIBFzEEH 11155
Hong Kong K ZZH 2612

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF LINMARK GROUP LIMITED
MEEEERAF

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheet of Linmark Group Limited as at 30 April 2002 and the
related consolidated statements of income, cash flows and
recognised gains and losses. These financial statements are
the responsibility of the Group’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by the management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Company and
the Group as of 30 April 2002 and the Group’s results of
operations and cash flows for the year ended 30 April 2002,
in accordance with International Accounting Standards and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 July 2002

RZBMRA LAV BRECSERNSTEY
EURBEEE S EAAFRE HAQA
¥ BEEER-_ZT_FNAZ=ZTHOP®
KAk BEBEHZE—_ZTET_F£WA=1+H
HEENKEXERB2RE  WEERBE
BRAAKINBEEREEZESRE -

BH-BAEMRAS M
HEEEED

o
—EE-FtA=-+A1A

EE_FFR MERE 39



CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS ® #iR& Wz &

For the year ended 30 April 2002 BE-_TT_FMNA=+HILFE

2002 2001
—g®-F -—TT—%
Notes Us$’000 USs$’000
Kzt FET FET
Turnover = ER 3 29,648 32,491
Cost of sales 5 & A A (473) (1,352)
Gross profit £ F 29,175 31,139
Other operating income Hfb e lg A 4 1,214 1,349
Administrative expenses THRAX (21,821) (20,042)
Profit from operations £ &5 A 6 8,568 12,446
Interest on obligations B 75 0 40 A E R B
under a finance lease (2) —
Gain on dissolution/ fRER K E KB A E W
disposal of a subsidiary 24 37 911
Profit before taxation B 15 Bz A 8,603 13,357
Taxation i 18 8 (261) (490)
Profit for the year F 2 5 7 8,342 12,867
Dividends % 2 9 13,290 8,000
Earnings per share (US cents) TRAER (EM)
Basic HAR 10 1.67 2.58
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS e

As at 30 April 2002 R-_ZETE-_FMNA=t+H&KEEHE

RAREERER

2002 2001
—EE_F —TT—F
Notes Us$'000 US$'000
Kt aF FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Machinery and equipment W28 R iR 11 1,358 891
Other asset HMEE 119 119
Deferred expenditure EIE B A 12 3,014 —
4,491 1,010
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Trade receivables e B B R 14 4,758 8,124
Prepayments, deposits and AR FKRIE - ﬁ@&
other receivables H e KT 2,187 1,641
Amount due from the =R NI ]
immediate holding company 15 — 1,957
Amounts due from fellow FEW R XK B A R 5RIE
subsidiaries 15 — 3,523
Bank balances and cash RTEFERBE S 2,122 1,319
9,067 16,564
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade payables BB SRR 16 100 460
Accruals and other payables JEETE R REM
J& 1~ 3R 18 1,484 2,111
Amount due to a fellow FERT R R M8 A R RIE
subsidiary 17 — 182
Obligations under a finance B RS AR A A —
lease — due within one year — F A3 E 18 22 —
Tax payable JE <P 18 873 1,067
2,479 3,820
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 6,588 12,744
TOTAL ASSETS LESS HEERARBEE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 11,079 13,754

—EE=
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2002 2001

—g®-F -—TT—%
Notes Us$’000 USs$’000
Kzt FET FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Obligations under a finance B A EE —
lease — due after one year — F1& 3| B 18 28 —
Provision for employee 1B B iR IKtE T B
retirement benefits 19 1,035 924
Deferred taxation FEAEB A 20 30 32
1,093 956
9,986 12,798
CAPITAL AND RESERVES IR AR & f#
Share capital N 21 40 —
Reserves 1 1 22 9,946 12,798
9,986 12,798
The financial statements on pages 40 to 89 were approved FAOEREFE M BERMELEETEN_Z
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 July TFELAZTNAAREREERZE - XH
2002 and are signed on its behalf by: THEEREKESE
WANG Lu Yen Steven Julien FENIGER
THE 38 5 1
Director Director
EF EF
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BALANCE SHEET » ¥E& &%

As at 30 April 2002 R-_ZEZE-FNA=+HHEZE

2002
—EE_F
Notes US$’000
M aF R
NON-CURRENT ASSET ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB AR 2®E 13 9,986
CURRENT ASSET REEE
Prepayments, deposits and TEFRIE -~ e & H AR K FRIE
other receivables 445
CURRENT LIABILITY REBAE
Amount due to a subsidiary RS NGIE @ 453
NET CURRENT LIABILITY REBEEEE (8)
9,978
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR & E
Share capital LN 21 40
Reserves & 1 22 9,938

WANG Lu Yen
FHE
Director

BE

9,978

Steven Julien FENIGER
PR
Director
BF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES ® SLRECBRAEBE R K

For the year ended 30 April 2002 BE-_TT_FMNA=+HILFE

2002 2001
—g®-F -—TT—%
Us$’000 US$'000
FET FET
Exchange differences arising Rk NTER
from translation of the BMEBINET
overseas operations not ZERETR
recognised in the
income statements (332) 342
Profit for the year FE A 8,342 12,867
Total recognised gains B R S B 5 8,010 13,209
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS ® ZEHRE&REX

For the year ended 30 April 2002 BE-—TET_FMNA=+HILFE

2002 2001
—BT_-F —TT—F
Notes USs$’000 US$'000
it &t FET FZET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KK
Cash generated from operations REEBETSHEE 23 11,008 8,930
Interest on obligations under B AAER B
a finance lease (2) =
Overseas tax paid B8N IR (468) (132)
Overseas tax refunded IR IEBINRIA 23 —
NET CASH FROM OPERATING REEEMESEHESFE
ACTIVITIES 10,561 8,798
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BETE
Interest received R EPS) 55 107
Repayment from fellow BEFXERRME QA
subsidiaries 3,523 33
Repayment from (advance to) BEXE (BRT)EE
immediate holding company R A A 1,957 (1,957)
Proceeds from disposal of HEWMEE R REEHRIE
machinery and equipment 6 14
Purchase of machinery and EEWMEREE
equipment (970) (616)
Payment for deferred expenditure X TIREEE A (3,014) —
Net cash outflow from e LERBRARZ
dissolution/disposal of a W FEE
subsidiary 24 — (10)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) REEE RS (FT5E)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REFHE 1,557 (2,429)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES & T E 25
Dividends paid BB (10,800) (8,000)
(Repayment to) advance from (BXT ) KERFR
a fellow subsidiary BB A A (182) 904
Repayment of obligations under B AR A E B K
a finance lease (17) —
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING BEEE RS R
ACTIVITIES (10,999) (7,096)
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2002 2001
—gB-F -—TT—F
Notes Us$’000 US$'000
it &t FET FET
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN HERREEEEH
CASH AND CASH ®in RS 8
EQUIVALENTS 1,119 (727)
NET CASH AND CASH FHzHERES
EQUIVALENTS AS AT ZEEREFEHE
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 1,319 1,666
Effect of foreign exchange EXgHg &
rate changes (316) 380
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRC2EERES
AS AT END OF THE YEAR LEEHR
Represented by bank balances HIRTEFRBESRE
and cash 2,122 1,319
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS e 81 % 3% & fff &%

For the year ended 30 April 2002 BE-—TET_FMNA=+HILFE

General

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda on 25 January 2002.
It became the holding company of the Group on 22
April 2002 as a result of the group reorganisation (the
“Group Reorganisation”) for the purpose of the listing of
the Company’s shares on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The shares of the Company were listed on
the Stock Exchange on 10 May 2002.

The directors consider that its ultimate holding
company is Roly International Holdings Ltd. (“Roly
International”), a company incorporated in Bermuda
and listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries are described in
note 34.

The Group resulting from the Group Reorganisation is
regarded as a restructure of enterprises under common
control. Accordingly, the financial statements of the
Group have been prepared as if the Company had
always been the holding company of the Group from
the beginning of the earliest period presented in a
manner similar to the pooling of interests method.

Details of the Group Reorganisation are set out in the
prospectus dated 30 April 2002 issued by the
Company.

— &R

ARABRRZEE_F—-—A=-+HARE
BRE-NN—FQRZEAEREZM
R BRZBEERAR - RZTTZF
MA-Z+=H  RETEESEH (&
BADUEBHEARABRNET BB ER
SEARAR (B ERET - &
REINAEAEBZEBR AR - AARK
MR_ZEE_FRA+THAEBRA L

o

m o

ESTERRADRAIZERERRAAR
Roly International Holdings Ltd. (& &\
BERAERAR) (I2EER]) (EAH
EAMAK I EFMEIZI SR IAER
REIEWZ AR °

ARBR/REERAT - HINB AR Z
TEXRBHNME3S -

REBBEHELEZASERR KR
BRI 2EERBEH - Aitt > AEEZ
BBREFRABUREGHEEEZZT
FTRARE  HOARFE KD RA
SEZEBRRR

EREEEAZHERRARFAR-E
ToEMASTRFIRBRER -
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Principal Accounting Policies

These financial statements are presented in United
States dollars because that is the currency in which the
majority of the Group’s transactions are denominated.
The financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention and in accordance with the
principal accounting policies set out below which
conform with International Accounting Standards
(“IAS").

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and enterprises
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) made up to
30 April 2002. Control is achieved where the Company
has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an investee enterprise so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.

On acquisition, the assets and liabilities of the relevant
subsidiaries are measured at their fair values at the
date of acquisition. The interest of minority
shareholders is stated at the minority’s proportion of the
fair values of the assets and liabilities recognised.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to
the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting
policies used in line with those used by other members
of the Group.

All significant intercompany transactions and balances
between group enterprises are eliminated on
consolidation.
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Principal Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue recognition
Sales of garment are recognised when goods are
delivered and title has passed.

Commission income is recognised upon shipment of
the underlying goods procured by the Group.

Reimbursement income from customers is recognised
when expenses paid on behalf of customers are
incurred.

Rental income, including rental invoiced in advance
from properties under operating leases, is recognised
on a straight line basis over the respective lease term.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion
basis taking into account the principal outstanding and
the effective interest rate applicable.

Consultancy service fee income is recognised when
services are rendered.

Machinery and equipment

Machinery and equipment are stated at cost less
depreciation. The cost of an asset comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its present working condition and
location for its intended use.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an asset is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
and is recognised in the income statement.

TEETEHE @)

Wy 355 7 B2
REHEREYNEREAEERRE
éﬂ\j’\ o
BEWRARAEERE ZHBEMTE
BIER °

XEEPZENBRARKRREPEMNZ
BRI HERER -
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7
FMEWAZ HBRA© REA 2 BERF =
PARFE LL BRI o

5 AR 75 B UL A TR AR 75 1 (R B AR o

e R RiE
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Principal Accounting Policies (continued)

Machinery and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of
machinery and equipment over their estimated useful
lives using the straight line method at the following
rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements 20% (or over the unexpired
lease term, whichever
is shorter)
Furniture, fixtures and 20% to 33'3%
equipment

Motor vehicles 20%

Other asset

Other asset representing club membership is stated at
cost less any impairment loss recognised to reflect any
irrecoverable amount.

Deferred expenditure
Material items of expenditure that do not relate solely to
revenue which has already been accounted for are
deferred to the extent that they are recoverable out of
future revenue, and will contribute to the future earning
capacity of the Group.

Deferred expenditure is amortised over the period in
which the related benefits are expected to be realised.
Deferred expenditure is reviewed annually to determine
the amount, if any, that is no longer recoverable and
any such amount is written off to the income statement
in the year of determination.

Subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the
Company’s balance sheet at cost less any identified
impairment loss.
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Principal Accounting Policies (continued)

Operating leases

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to
the income statement on a straight-line basis over the
relevant lease terms.

Taxation

The charge for current tax is based on the results for
the year as adjusted for items which are non-assessable
or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet dates.

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet
liability method in respect of temporary differences
arising from differences between the carrying amount of
assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the
corresponding tax basis used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilized.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill (or negative
goodwill) or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction which affects neither the tax profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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Principal Accounting Policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled. Deferred tax is charged or
credited in the income statement, except when it
relates to items credited or charged directly to equity, in
which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Retirement benefit schemes

(i)  Defined-contribution schemes
The retirement benefit costs charged to the
income statement represent the contribution
payable in respect of the year to the Group’s
defined contribution scheme.

(i)  Defined-benefit retirement schemes
Contributions to the schemes are charged to the
income statement when they are made. The Group
carries out an actuarial valuation of the schemes
every three years. Provision is made for further
liabilities identified from actuarial valuations.

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the
rates ruling on the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are re-translated at the rates ruling on the balance
sheet date. Profits and losses arising on exchange are
dealt with in the income statement.
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Principal Accounting Policies (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

On consolidation, the financial statements of overseas
operations are translated at the rates ruling on the
balance sheet date. All exchange differences arising on
consolidation are dealt with in the exchange reserve.

Impairment

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss
(if any).

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
Impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately.

TEETEHE @)

ShE (&)

RERER  BINEB 2 BREREE
B EXRE - GEEXZBERLE
BHOBAER #HERRE -

B
AEBREELEEREREANEELZ
FBREE NWHBZEEERTDHERME
AREEE  SHBETAREZTR
R ¥ & 2 7] W [0 & B8 1 I AT A AR B R
BEEBME) ZEE -

EEAGEFENEEz A KROLE - K
EEEeHAZBEEENMB RIS E
Lz Yol 458 o

& B E (RERIR & BA) 2 fhat Al i
Ol & BENEREE - BIEE (SHREGR
TEM) 2EEESHREEATKE S
B2 o BB B8 A5 B B W B8 R B ST o

HREBEEEEE  BIEE CGURIE
SEMN) 2 EEEBAAZLERT 2G5
A EIEEE - WRARZEREENSHE
BRBANFFEL EERIMNEE (BB
MIRE BN FHEBEMETEZREE -
AR B E BB ERARA -

“ETCEEHR MELE 53



Principal Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
on the Group’s balance sheet when the Group has
become a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are stated at their nominal value, as
reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated
irrecoverable amount.

Trade payables
Trade payables are stated at their nominal value.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation as a result of a past event which it is
probable will result in an outflow of economic benefits
that can be reasonably estimated.

Turnover

Turnover represents proceeds received and receivable
from commission income and sales of garment by the
Group to customers during the year, and is analysed as
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follows:
THE GROUP
A EE
2002 2001
—eB-F —TT-&
Us$’000 US$’000
FFEE SFETE
Commission income AU A 29,135 30,866
Sales of garment XK $H & 513 1,625
29,648 32,491

54 LINMARK GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2002




4. Other Operating Income 4., HEERA
THE GROUP
A& HE
2002 2001
—FE-F —TEF
Us$’000 US$’000
FETT FETT
Interest income 2 A 55 107
Reimbursement income from K BEZFE ZEM Y%A
customers 721 530
Commission payable BOoENE2
written back — 551
Consultancy service fee B RSB WA
income 75 —
Others H1i 363 161
1,214 1,349
5. Segmental Information 5. 2¥&EHR

For management purposes, the Group is currently
organised into two operating activities — services
rendered and sales of garment. These divisions are the
basis on which the Group reports its primary segmental
information.

Principal activities are as follows:

Services rendered — commission income derived
from the procurement agency business

Sales of garment — trading of garment
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TRER #)
ERLSEBZHBEANMT :

5. Segmental Information (continued) 5.
Segmental information about these businesses is
presented below:

(a) By principal activity (a) RETEEK

For the year ended 30 April 2002
BE-ZZE-_FOAZ=+HLFE

Sales of Services
garment rendered Elimination Total
B R 8 & =R 3% ES &t
US$'000 USs$'000 USs$’000 US$'000
FET FET FZET FET
REVENUE Y =
External revenue AN PR Wz 513 29,135 — 29,648
CONTRIBUTION TO #5585 /R
PROFIT FROM
OPERATIONS 41 8,527 — 8,568
Finance costs B 7% & (2)
Gain on dissolution of a fi BLBT /BB 2 A
subsidiary I 2= 37
Profit before taxation B %% B V& A 8,603
Taxation L (261)
Profit for the year F 5% F 8,342
OTHER INFORMATION H & B
Additions to machinery HEREERE
and equipment — 1,037 — 1,037
Depreciation e — 526 — 526
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES A= & =%
AS AT 30 APRIL 2002 mMA=+H
2EEREE
ASSETS BE
Segmental assets DREE — 13,558 — 13,558
LIABILITIES =R
Segmental liabilities DEEAEE 100 2,519 — 2,619
Unallocated corporate RAoBEEHXERE
liabilities 953
Consolidated total liabilities 42 & B E42%58 3,572
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5. Segmental Information (continued) 5. 78BE&EHR #)
(a) By principal activity (continued) (@) BEXEEK (&)

For the year ended 30 April 2001
BHE_ZTZ-—FMOA=THILFE

Sales of Services
garment rendered Elimination Total
PX IR SHE e it BR 75 £ 54 a&t

US$'000 US$'000 UsS$'000 UsS$'000
TET TET TET TET

REVENUE W =
External revenue AN PR UK 2% 1,625 30,866 — 32,491
CONTRIBUTION TO FEE T =Y

PROFIT FROM

OPERATIONS 273 12,173 — 12,446
Gain on disposal of a HENB A A

subsidiary I 2= 911
Profit before taxation B 1 B & A 13,357
Taxation I8 (490)
Profit for the year FZ i A 12,867
OTHER INFORMATION H b & B
Additions to machinery MR REBERE

and equipment — 1,037 — 1,037
Depreciation e — 351 — 351
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES A= & — &

AS AT 30 APRIL 2001 MA=+H

ZEEREE

ASSETS BE
Segmental assets DEEE 543 17,031 — 17,574
LIABILITIES =R
Segmental liabilities DEAEE 237 3,440 — 3,677
Unallocated corporate RAoBEEXERE

liabilities 1,099
Consolidated total liabilities 42 & & &E42%58 4,776
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5. Segmental Information (continued) 5. 28E&EHR #®)

(b) By geographical markets (b) IR H
The following table provides an analysis of the TRARNEHIEERRE M
Group’s sales by geographical markets, in respect CIATTR At b

of the customer base:

For the year ended 30 April 2002
BE-ZE-FNA=tHLEE
United
Canada States Europe Hong Kong Others Total
mgx xH BOM &8 Hty &t
US$'000 US$’'000 US$'000 US$000 US$'000 US$000
FET FET FET FET FET FET

REVENUE W &=
External revenue AN TR My 2 11,089 8,378 2,089 2,511 5,581 29,648
CONTRIBUTION %28 7 B &
TO PROFIT FROM
OPERATIONS 3,204 2,421 604 726 1,613 8,568
Finance costs B EHR (2)
Gain on dissolution A= NG
of a subsidiary & 37
Profit before taxation B 1 A0 g A 8,603
Taxation 18 (261)
Profit for the year F 2 it Al 8,342
For the year ended 30 April 2001
HE-_ZT—FNA=1tHLFE
United
Canada States Europe Hong Kong Others Total
MEKR EH B BB HAth &
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
REVENUE W &=
External revenue AN R My 2 14,073 8,608 2,603 1,848 5,359 32,491
CONTRIBUTION % 2% 7 5 &
TO PROFIT FROM
OPERATIONS 5,391 3,297 997 708 2,053 12,446
Gain on disposal HEKNB QA
of a subsidiary & 911
Profit before taxation B 11 A0 i A 13,357
Taxation 18 (490)
Profit for the year F 5 4 7 12,867
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5. Segmental Information (continued)

(b) By geographical markets (continued)
The following is an analysis of the carrying amount

5. 2HEHR (#)

(b) EHIE (&)

L/{Ti%?;z,éf%ﬁﬁ&ﬂﬂlu:uzﬂﬁi £

of segmental assets, and additions to machinery EREEEESE RZER %Z
and equipment, analysed by the geographical area #r
in which the assets are located:
2002 2001
—EECF —EE—F
Us$’000 USs$'000
FEx FETT
Carrying amount of DEEEREE
segmental assets
Hong Kong B8 10,034 14,200
Taiwan =0 487 466
Others H A 3,037 2,908
13,558 17,574
Additions to machinery HEREBERNE
and equipment
Hong Kong 578 456 152
Taiwan =0 36 58
Others Hth 545 406
1,037 616

£ 3
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Profit from Operations 6. K&EREA
THE GROUP
AEE
2002 2001
—22-F —FTF—F
Us$’000 Us$’000
FET FZET
Profit from operations has been KERNE MR A& IE -

arrived at after charging:

Directors’ remuneration (Note 7) ZE®8M& (#f:F7) 937 567
Other staff costs 8 TR 11,251 10,230
Retirement benefit scheme R RAE T Ft &I 4 3K

contributions (T"BEESR)

(excluding directors) 583 402
Total staff costs (Note) BE TR (BaE) 12,771 11,199
Auditors’ remuneration % EX B B & 67 40
Depreciation e

— owned assets — BEEE 520 351

— assets under a finance — B BEHNEE

lease 6 —
Loss on disposal of machinery HERRE LR EEIE

and equipment 10 —
Operating lease rentals in wEHHNBEE -

respect of:

— office premises and staff — BFEEMREIRSE

quarters 1,568 1,540

— furniture, fixtures and — R KRERZE

equipment 50 35
Net exchange losses E R BB TR — 545
Allowance for doubtful debts AR 176 225
Provision for claims REREE 349 649
and after crediting: WErA -
Rental income 2 WA — 25
Gains on disposal of HE S R E RS

machinery and equipment — 9
Net exchange gains JE 5 W s F RR 147 —
Note: ftat -

Number of employees EE A 639 552
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7. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments 7. EEREEME
Directors’ remuneration: B -
THE GROUP
AEE
2002 2001
—®®-F -TT—%
Us$’000 US$’000
FETT FET
Fees: e
Executive directors HITES — —
Independent non-executive BYERITES
directors — —
Other emoluments Eme RiTES) ¢
(executive directors):
Salaries and allowances M K = B 886 553
Retirement benefits scheme R OKAE F 58 4 50
contributions 25 14
Bonus PN 26 —
937 567
937 567
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7. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments 7. EEREEME (&
(continued)
The emoluments of the directors were within the ZEEIZMENTUTEHE :
following bands:

THE GROUP
AEME
2002 2001
—FE-F —Ee
Number of Number of
directors directors
EEAH EEAH
Nil to US$100,000 = % 100,000 T
US$100,001 — US$200,000 100,001 Jt & 200,000 7T 1 2
US$200,001 — US$300,000 200,001 7t & 300,000 7T 3
7 7
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in rEEREE=HFMEES =R (2%
the Group, three (2001: one) were directors of the T—F: —R)BARFES EfieE
Company whose emoluments are included in the NEXHKE - ESAME (T —F - @
disclosure above. The emoluments of the remaining two H)EEZMESWT :
(2001: four) individuals were as follows:
THE GROUP
REE
2002 2001
—g¥-5 —TT—F
Us$’000 US$’000
FETT FETT
Salaries and other benefits = B & B A 18 A 400 726
Retirement benefits scheme B ORAE M EFEI R
contributions 17 21
Bonus PN 16 —
433 747
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7. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments

(continued)

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

EEkEEME @)

H M FATHE :

THE GROUP
AEE
2002 2001
—g®-F —TT—%
Number of Number of
directors directors
EEAY EEAH
US$100,001 to US$200,000 100,0012& JT & 200,000 7T 1 2
US$200,001 to US$300,000 200,0013& 7t £ 300,000 7t 1 2
2 4
8. Taxation HiE
THE GROUP
rEE
2002 2001
—®®-F -TT—%
Us$’000 US$'000
FET FET
The charge comprises: MIBEE
Hong Kong profits tax BENER
— current year — REE — 122
Income tax in other Hi R AR EH
jurisdictions
— current year — REE 287 679
— overprovision in — AFEEBEEE
prior year (24) (330)
Deferred taxation (Note 20) EERIE (M FF20) (2) 19
261 490
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8. Taxation (continued)
Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16 per cent. of
the estimated assessable profits for the year.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at
the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit

8. ®IHE (&)

BRMNERBIBEAFE G ERT SN
R E1I6%FTH ©

R R EE Y BIE RS 7
BERE R -

R4 2 0 18 32 i A B R A5 A N AR 40

before taxation as follows: I8
THE GROUP
TEME
2002 2001
—2F=F —FT—F
Us$’000 % US$'000 %
FET FET

Profit before taxation B %% B V2 A 8,603 13,357
Tax at the domestic income BRAM S E16%

tax rate of 16% STE 2 THIB 1,376 16.0 2,137 16.0
Tax effect of expenses that is 5+ & & & 5% F b5

not deductible in DR

determining taxable profit BT E 1 — 8 —
Tax effect of income that is 5T 5 AR m ) B

not taxable in determining BARB KA

taxable profit LR & (2,038) (23.7) (2,169) (16.2)
Unrecognised income tax HETEEQAERE

losses relating to losses of H B R R

certain group companies 2T EE 688 8.0 263 2.0
Effect of different tax rates EHM A ARERLE

of subsidiaries operating 2B RETE

in other jurisdictions MEZzZE 234 2.7 251 1.9
Tax expense and effective tax ~ FE AR L

rate for the year B PR A 2R 261 3.0 490 3.7

Details of the potential deferred tax benefit not provided
for in the year are set out in note 20.
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10.

Dividends

No dividends have been paid or declared by the
Company from 25 January 2002, the date of
incorporation, to 30 April 2002.

During the year, interim and special dividends were
paid by a subsidiary to its then shareholder prior to the
Group Reorganisation.

The final dividend of 3.0 HK cents (2001: Nil) per share
has been proposed by the directors and is subject to
approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

g B
BE-EE-—F—H=-+AH (M7 H
HE-_ET_FNA=1+HHH - XA

o
=1
5

RN EIREAKE

ARER - U THBRARREBSAAR
HE W 2 BRR A EI R RIACR -

ERRERBRE AL L EBR30B
(=225 B)  BECABRERE
ERFAFAR FHE -

THE GROUP
AEE
2002 2001
—FE-F —TEF
Us$’000 USs$’000
FET FZET
Linmark Westman Investments Linmark Westman Investments
Limited Limited
Interim, paid ENFEHRE 3,800 8,000
First special, paid ENE—RERIRE 3,500 —
Second special, paid ENEZRERRE 3,500 —
10,800 8,000
The Company VNN
Final dividend, proposed ¥R R E AR B 2,490 —
13,290 8,000

Earnings per Share

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based
on the profit attributable to shareholders of
approximately US$8,342,000 (2001: US$12,867,000)
and on the 499,200,000 shares in issue and issuable
comprising 2,000,000 shares in issue as at 30 April
2002 and 497,200,000 shares to be issued pursuant to
the capitalisation issue as referred to in note 33(b).

10. 3R &R

BREXRR MR E KRR E G & T
#4) 8342000k Tt (Z T F — #F
12,867,000 7t ) £2499,200,000/% B2 %
ThEFERITEN (BRER-FEFT_FN
A=+ HE%#77.22,000,0008% iz 7 & AR
IEMRE33 () A it 2 B AL AT A% T 3
172497,200,000/% i 7)) 5T & ©
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11. Machinery and Equipment 11. WERXE
THE GROUP EE
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Motor
improvements  equipment vehicles Total
iR &AM
MERE HKERRE RE &5t
Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
FETT FETT FET FETT
COST 29N
As at 1 May 2001 R-ZZEZE-—FHHA—H 734 2,234 227 3,195
Exchange realignment EH (1) (42) (12) (55)
Additions NE 148 764 125 1,037
Disposals & (16) (75) (27) (118)
As at 30 April 2002 R-_ZEZ—FpPPAH=+H 865 2,881 313 4,059
DEPRECIATION e
As at 1 May 2001 R=ZEZE—FHH—H 654 1,506 144 2,304
Exchange realignment EH A (1) (21) (5) (27)
Provided for the year FANRE 82 408 36 526
Eliminated on disposals i & R fifl 4 (16) (71) (15) (102)
As at 30 April 2002 RZZEZE_FHEA=1+H 719 1,822 160 2,701
NET BOOK VALUES REFE
As at 30 April 2002 RZZEZE_FHEA=1+H 146 1,059 153 1,358
As at 30 April 2001 RZZEZT—FHEA=1+H 80 728 83 891

The net book values of machinery and equipment of the
Group include an amount of US$60,215 (2001: Nil) in

respect of an asset held under a finance lease.

The Company has no machinery and equipment as at

30 April 2002.
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12.

13.

14.

Deferred Expenditure

Deferred expenditure represents expenditure incurred
for the extension of a period of three years for the right
to act as the exclusive buying agent of a customer.
Such expenditure is deferred and written off over the
life of the extended period of such right.

12.

ELEE M
BEREERAR-—REPHREFEBREK
BREEH=-FAXHZER  ZAE
ASELEHE  TRBEREREE L
HE A8 S HAMSH o

Investments in Subsidiaries 13. R BRARIZKRE
THE COMPANY
VNN |
US$'000
FET
Unlisted shares, at cost JE LT KA

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 30 April
2002 are set out in note 34.

Trade Receivables
The credit terms granted to customers range from 60 to
90 days. The aged analysis of trade receivables is as

14.

9,986

ARARR_ZEZ_FMA=+HZHE
NE BB R EIS -

W B 5 R
BYEPZIEEHHE0KREIORNE -
EWE ZRAZR®R AT

follows:
THE GROUP
rEH

2002 2001
—FE-F —TEF
Us$’000 US$’000
FETx FETT
0 — 30 days 0— 30K 2,873 3,092
31 — 60 days 31—60X 1,356 3,255
61 — 90 days 61—90XK 319 1,333
Over 90 days 90K KA 1,025 1,461
5,573 9,141

Less: Allowance for doubtful o REREAE
debts (815) (1,017)
4,758 8,124
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15. Amounts Due from the Immediate Holding 15. EREZERAGARBRKB A
Company and Fellow Subsidiaries CIE/ ¢
THE GROUP rEE
The amounts were unsecured, non-interest bearing and ZEFETEELARARLEE - BERAKF
were fully settled during the year. ANEHEE -
16. Trade Payables 16. B E B ERX
The aged analysis of trade payables is as follows: ENESERZERESNAT
THE GROUP
AEM
2002 2001
—2F=F —FF—F
Us$’000 USs$’000
FET FET
0 - 30 days 0— 30K — 258
31 - 60 days 31—60X — 145
61 — 90 days 61—90K — 20
Over 90 days 90K JA 100 37
100 460
17. Amount Due to a Fellow Subsidiary 17. ENEZKWEB X RARE
THE GROUP AEE

The amount was unsecured, non-interest bearing and
was fully repaid during the year.
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18. Obligations under a Finance Lease 18. B B HEAEAIE

Present value

Minimum of minimum
lease payments lease payments
REESNTR REHANRRE
2002 2001 2002 2001
—FB-F _TTF ZBF-F —_TTF

Us$’o00 Us$'000 Us$’000 Us$'000
FET TET FET T

THE GROUP REE
Amounts payable under R AL R
a finance lease: FIE
Within one year —F R 24 — 22 —
More than one year but not —FREMEAN
exceeding two years 24 — 22 —
More than two years but not WERBREREA
exceeding five years 6 — 6 —
54 — 50 —
Less: Future finance charges &l @ KRR EE A 4) — — =
Present value of lease MEFAERE
obligations 50 — 50 —
Analysed as: AW
Amounts due within one year 3| AR A G
shown under current — & (A 2| 8
liabilities 2 FRIE 22 —
Amounts due after one year —F BB 2 FIA 28 —
50 —
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18. Obligations under a Finance Lease (continued)
It is the Group’s policy to lease its motor vehicle under a
finance lease. The lease term is 3 years. For the year
ended 30 April 2002, the average effective borrowing
rate was 8% per annum. Interest rates are fixed at the
contract date. Lease is on a fixed repayment basis and
no arrangements have been entered into for contingent
rental payments.

18. M BELNEAE &)
REBMBREARMBROBRLTE -
HEA=F REE-_ZTT-_FWA=
+HILEE BEREESXTHAFS
8 - BETINITAKHBHET - AL
UEEES M RAEE WA EHRKR

& RETML R HE -

The Company has no obligations under a finance lease. AN 2 2 B O D
19. Provision for Employee Retirement Benefits 19. EERKBERRE
Movements during the year are as follows: RERNZEEHMT -
THE GROUP
AEME
2002 2001
—FE-F —Ee
Us$’000 Us$’000
FET FZET
As at beginning of the year RE] 924 1,132
Exchange differences EHER (41) (119)
Charged to income statement  fE Uz & A 1
(Note 32(b)) (K1 z£32(b)) 225 196
Payments E:S (73) (285)
As at end of the year R F 1,035 924

70 LINMARK GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2002




20. Deferred Taxation

20. EEBIH

THE GROUP
rEE

2002 2001
—FE-F —TEF
Us$’000 USs$’000
FET FET
As at beginning of the year RE] 32 13
(Credit) charge for the year REE (ER) X (2) 19
As at end of the year R F R 30 32

Deferred taxation represents the tax effect of timing
differences attributable to the excess of tax depreciation
allowances over depreciation charged to the income
statements.

As at the balance sheet date, the Group had unused tax
losses of approximately US$7,100,000 (2001:
US$3,384,000) available for offsetting against future
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
the financial statements as it is not certain that the
benefit will be recognised in the foreseeable future.

ERERBENERLHBEBARGDERALZ
FEXHMEIBZRELRBEZE -

REER  AEBER KRB R ZRBERLD
7,100,000% 7T (ZTZF —% : 3,384,000%
70) Al A AR SH R HOE F  FRBEHEE IR
EFBEERNAITAR 2 RRER - R
EH RS RER -
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21. Share Capital

21. B

Number
of shares Amount
% 21 £
Notes US$’000
M 7t FET
Authorised: AR
As at date of incorporation R A Sz B 5 (a) 1,000,000 20
Increase in authorised A TE B AN 38 N
share capital (b) 1,999,000,000 39,980
As at 30 April 2002 R —FmMA=+H 2,000,000,000 40,000
Issued and fully paid: EETRER :
Issue of shares to VAR B 3 =
subscriber at nil paid mEEREABITRG (c) 1,000,000 —
Issue of shares and credit nil BIESEEAZTAR
paid shares issued V=Y O &l S
previously as fully paid LR BT RABBRAK
in accordance IR ABRS B8R IR
with the Group
Reorganisation 1,000,000 40

As at 30 April 2002 R-_ZEZ _FPWA=+H 2,000,000 40

Notes: Bt -

(a) As at the date of incorporation of the Company, its (a) MARRFMAZBH  HEERAEAR
authorised share capital was US$20,000 divided into 20,000 7T * 9 4 1,000,0008% & & ® &
1,000,000 shares of US$0.02 each, all of which were 0.02%€ T ZBm » EHER_TZT_F—
allotted and issued, nil paid, to RGS Holdings Limited on A+ NBURBBRRS XL RETT
19 February 2002. RGS Holdings Limited °

(b) On 22 April 2002, written resolutions of the sole (b) RZEBEZE_FWA-—+=H KAAIMH—

shareholder of the Company were passed pursuant to
which the authorised share capital of the Company was
increased from US$20,000 to US$40,000 by the creation
of an additional 1,000,000 new shares of US$0.02 each.
By further written resolutions of the sole shareholder of the
Company passed on the same date, the authorised share
capital was further increased from US$40,000 to
US$40,000,000 by the creation of an additional
1,998,000,000 new shares of US$0.02 each.
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BRzZEMAZRESEE  BUHARF
& 1% 5% 1,000,0000% & fx H {E0.023€ T 2
AR - 0% T AR 2N B 20,0005 T g =
40,0005 7T ° RIBNF B —FEBAR
AME—RRZERRER - AR AFEIER
% 41 1,998,000,0004% & % [ 8 0.023€ 7T
ZH AR - A AR AR 1 40,0005 TTHE —
5 1% %5 40,000,000 7T, °



21. Share Capital (continued)

(c)  Pursuant to the Group Reorganisation and as consideration
for the acquisition by the Company of the entire issued
share capital of each of Linmark Westman Investments
Limited, Trend Xpress, Inc. and IGCS Group Limited, on 22
April 2002, an aggregate of 1,000,000 shares, credited as
fully paid, were allotted and issued to RGS Holdings
Limited and the 1,000,000 nil paid shares issued to RGS
Holdings Limited on 19 February 2002 upon organisation
of the Company were credited as fully paid at par.

All existing shares issued by the Company during the
year rank pari passu in all respects.

For the purpose of the preparation of the consolidated
balance sheet, the balance of the share capital shown
in the consolidated balance sheet as at 30 April 2001
represented the issued capital of Linmark Westman
Investments Limited which was acquired by the
Company on 22 April 2002 pursuant to the Group
Reorganisation.

21. BR& (&)

(c) WREBESEEEHARERAAGEA Linmark
Westman Investments Limited * Trend
Xpress, Inc. % IGCS Group Limited Z#BE
BABRAZRE R _FWOA_+
— B ' &2 F#1,000,0008% A B 5| & &
B 2z B0 Bt 3% &% 31T T RGS Holdings
Limited - WK ZZEZ-_F =+ HAX
A AN 1T F RGS Holdings Limited
21,000,000/ 7 # Ig 5% iR 19 A BR 51] /& 12
HEHERR -

ARANANEFERBETZEHBRERNE
ENHBYEBERSF R -

IRESEAEEERBRME  N_FF
—FONA=THBEEZGEREEARBR
Frol 2 MARNGEHRBARAN _FTT_F

WMA-+t-_HBRBEEBEEZEAHEBE AZ
Linmark Westman Investments Limited &
BEATHRR -

As at 30 April 2001
K-TT-—FMA=1H
Us$

EY

Linmark Westman Investments Limited Linmark Westman Investments Limited 11

Shown in the consolidated PRt & B E

balance sheet

US$'000
TET
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS o Bf 3R & i &
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For the year ended 30 April 2002 #HZ_—_ZTZ_FWMA=+HIFE
22. Reserves 22. #%
Accumulated
Share  Contributed Special  Translation  Dividend profits
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve (deficit) Total
2REH
ROEE ERER KRR EARE RERK (B8 CEl
US$000  US$000  US$000  US$000 - US$000  US$000  US$000
T T T#r T T T#7 T#r
THE GROUP r&
As at 1 May 2000 RZZZZFHA-H 3 — 222 (215) = 7,579 7,589
Exchange differences arising from AREENER
translation of financial statements BHREMEL
of the overseas operations ZERER - = = 342 — — 342
Profit for the year FER A — — — — - 12,867 12,867
Dividend & & (1) = = = (7,999) (8,000)
As at 30 April 2001 RZZZ-FMA=1H 2 = 222 127 — 12,447 12,798
Special reserve arising on the group REBEAMES
restructuring A dill A — — (40) — — = (40)
Exchange differences arising from FREENET
translation of financial statements BHREMEL
of overseas operations ZELER — — — (332) — — (332)
Exchange reserve realised upon AELHBARMER
dissolution of a subsidiary ZERGE — — — (22) — — (22)
Profit for the year F 55 A — — — — - 8,342 8,342
Dividends iR & = = = = = (10,800)  (10,800)
Proposed final dividend BRRHRE = = = 2,490 (2,490) =
As at 30 April 2002 RZZE-FMA=1H 2 — 182 (227) 2,490 7,499 9,946
THE COMPANY YN
Contributed surplus arising on the REBEAMES
group restructuring LEBRR — 9,946 — — — 9,946
Loss for the period HEER — — — — — @) (8)
Proposed final dividend R AR H R 8 - — = = 2490 (2,490) =
As at 30 April 2002 R-BE-EWA=1H = 9,946 — — 2,490 (2,498) 9,938




22. Reserves (continued)

The special reserve represents the difference between
the nominal value of share capital of the Company
issued and the aggregate amount of nominal value of
share capital of subsidiaries acquired by the Company
through an exchange of shares.

The contributed surplus represents the difference
between the consolidated shareholder’s funds of the
subsidiaries at the date on which they were acquired by
the Company, and the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the
Group Reorganisation.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the
contributed surplus account of the Company is
available for distribution. However, the Company cannot
declare or pay a dividend or make a distribution out of
contributed surplus if:

(a) itis, or would after the payment be unable to pay
its liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be
less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its
issued share capital and share premium accounts.

In the opinion of the directors, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to shareholders as at 30 April
2002 consisted of the aggregate of contributed surplus
and dividend reserve less deficit totalling approximately
US$9,938,000.

22. f#f& (&)

KRB EARFREHTRARERR
NAARBB O T AWEZ ZEHE A
AlZBAHEAERE ZEZHE -

ERBREZENBRRNARRWE
FHIZEERRESBARARNEEE
ARRKREMETROZEERE ZE
B o

REBRE-NN—FRQRE  XRH
ZEZBHBERAKDIK o A - £ N
BARAT » ARRFETAREHBRPEIR
PR IREHAEL DK :

(@) A7 B AR IR B 37 R 1K 5
AEEINHZBE K

(b) ARREEAEREEAKEK
DIERMELREEFEHEB TR
AR B ZE5E -

EZgRR ARAR-_ZET_FNOA
ZSTHAESRTERRZFREEEM
BRERSREERERE  RBEOHR
9,938,000% 7T, °
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23. Reconciliation of Profit Before Taxation to

23. RBABEFNEKEEBRERA

Net Cash Inflow from Operating Activities REZEHR
THE GROUP
rEME
2002 2001
—g¥-5 —TT—F
Us$’000 US$'000
FEx FETT
Profit before taxation B 75 B 4 A 8,603 13,357
Interest income A2 WA (55) (107)
Interest on obligations under B 75 1H 40 A E Al B
a finance lease 2 —
Depreciation e 526 351
Loss (gain) on disposal of HEMSRRZEBER (W)
machinery and equipment 10 (9)
Gain on dissolution/disposal AR HENB AR WS
of a subsidiary (37) (911)
Decrease (increase) in trade FEWE 5 RRFOR A (35 00)
receivables 3,366 (2,291)
Increase in prepayments, TERKIE -~ Ze RHA
deposits and other JE W 3K T8 38 AN
receivables (546) (509)
(Decrease) increase in FERTE 5 BRE O ) 15 40
trade payables (360) 416
Decrease in accruals and FEET & A & H h FE 1~ FRIE R 4
other payables (612) (1,156)
Increase (decrease) in B BRREF B AL I O )
provision for employee
retirement benefits 111 (211)
NET CASH INFLOW FROM REXBEBERARE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 11,008 8,930
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24. Dissolution/Disposal of a Subsidiary

24. @BEHEKBARA

THE GROUP
AEE
2002 2001
—g®-f —TT—%
Us$’000 US$'000
FET FET
NET LIABILITIES RE HEZEERE
DISSOLVED/DISPOSED OF
Machinery and equipment 1 28 I 3% A = 19
Trade receivables FE U B 5 BR 3K — 99
Prepayments, deposits and FBRRIE - Re kEAM
other receivables J& W SR I8 — 109
Bank balances and cash RTEFRES — 11
Trade payables e E SR — (26)
Accruals and other payable FEET B A & CH M f& < 5K 1A (15) (60)
Amount due to a fellow i NREES o PN
subsidiary — (1,018)
(15) (910)
Exchange reserve realised on fE BRI A R & IR ~
dissolution of the subsidiary E R (22) —
Gain on dissolution/disposal FREL SN B A R s
of a subsidiary 37 911
— 1
Satisfied by cash NEKWBEEREZHN
considerations received — 1
Analysis of the net cash BE/ HEHNBARZRS
outflow of cash and cash NR&EEHEB ML FE
equivalents in respect of DT
the dissolution/disposal
of a subsidiary:
Cash consideration received BHRERKE — 1
Bank balances and cash HEZRITEFERERS
disposed of — (11)
— (10)

£ 3
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24.

25.

26.

Dissolution/Disposal of a Subsidiary
(continued)

The subsidiary dissolved/disposed of during the year
did not make a material contribution to the net cash
flows or results of the Group during the year.

Analysis of Changes in Financing
During the Year

24. BEHEWB AT (&)
RANE RSB e 2 i B A 513 5 4
AEEMAAERNZBE R E FHERLE
(EHEAER -

25. RFRAZRER B DN

THE GROUP
rEHE

Amount due Obligations
to a fellow under a
subsidiary finance lease

EAREZR
MEBABMRE BMBEEIERE
US$'000 US$'000
FETT FETT
As at 1 May 2000 RZEZEZTFHH—H 296 —
Advance 2R 904 —
Disposal of a subsidiary HEKEB A A (1,018) —
As at 30 April 2001 RZEZE—FMA=+H 182 —
Inception of a finance lease B 75 70 49 & A — 67
Repayment EBX (182) (17)
As at 30 April 2002 R-_ZEZE_FPPWAH=1+H — 50

Major Non-Cash Transactions

During the year, the Group purchased certain
machinery and equipment by means of a finance lease.
The cost of these machinery and equipment amounted
to US$67,215 (2001: Nil).
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27. Operating Lease Commitments 27. REBNERE

As at the balance sheet date, the Group had REHER AEEREBELIHEEFZAD
outstanding commitments under non-cancellable AIREEREHAOMARA TFHAZ R
operating leases in respect of land and buildings which EIE

fall due as follows:

THE GROUP
rEE
2002 2001
—g¥-5 -—TT—%F
Us$’000 US$'000
FET FET
Within one year —F R 1,235 1,141
In the second to fifth year FEFIFA(BEEEMS)
inclusive 915 941
Over five years hF& — 108
2,150 2,190
As at the balance sheet date, the Group had REER  AEEIRERM KB RK
outstanding commitments under non-cancellable B2 PR HEHL =AM AR AT 5 E
operating leases in respect of furniture, fixtures and 32 A
equipment which fall due as follows:
THE GROUP
AEE
2002 2001
—g®-5 -—TT—%F
Us$’000 USs$’000
FET FZET
Within one year —F R 44 14
In the second to fifth year FEFLAFA(BEERMTE)
inclusive 65 27
109 41
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27.

28.

Operating Lease Commitments (continued)

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by
the Group for certain of its office premises and staff
quarters and furniture, fixtures and equipment. Leases
in respect of land and buildings are negotiated for an
average term of two years and rentals are fixed for an
average of two years. Leases in respect of furniture,
fixtures and equipment are negotiated for a term of five
years and rentals are fixed for a term of five years.

The Company had no operating lease commitments as
at the balance sheet date.

Capital Commitments
The Group had the following capital commitments as at
the balance sheet date:

27. RERNARIE (&)
REBUNFTEREEREE TS T
BRREIBEEEEGM HERBERE
YHRZHES - L REFZALUTY
FHMERES  HeNMUTHRES
F oo Rk KERREZALYANELY
AEES HeMARFET -

AATRGEE AW EC LT YA -
28. EAXEIE

ATRAEBERGEER 2 BAKIE :

THE GROUP
AEH
2002 2001
—FE-F —Ee
Us$’000 US$’000
FETx FET
Commitments for the BE B MBS N R R
acquisition of machinery
and equipment
— contracted for but not — BRINERE
provided in the M mE N
financial statements 104 150
— authorised but not — B EBRRETLD
contracted for 13 —
117 150

The Company had no capital commitments as at the
balance sheet date.
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29.

30.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group
As at 30 April 2002, the balance sheet date, the Group
had no contingent liability.

As at 30 April 2001, the Group had banking facilities of
approximately US$5,705,000, which were jointly
available to certain fellow subsidiaries (the “Co-
borrowers”) for overdrafts and trade financing. Such
facilities, which were not utilized as at 30 April 2001,
were secured by:

i Corporate guarantee provided by the Company’s
ultimate holding company; and

ii. Cross-corporate guarantees provided jointly by the
Co-borrowers.

These guarantees have been released during the year.

The Company
The Company had no contingent liability as at the
balance sheet date.

Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of bank balances and cash, trade
receivables, prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
amounts due from immediate holding company and fellow
subsidiaries, trade payables, accruals and other payables,
amount due to a fellow subsidiary and tax payable
approximate their fair values because of the nature and
the short-term maturity of these instruments.

The directors of the Company represented that the
Group’s concentration of credit risk and exposure to the
effects of future changes in the prevailing level of
interest rates are not significant.

Financial instruments denominated in foreign
currencies, where applicable, have been translated as
the market exchange rates prevailing at the balance
sheet date. The Group has not entered into any foreign
exchange forward contracts to hedge against foreign
exchange fluctuations of the financial instruments.

29.

30.
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31. Related Party Transactions

3. FBEALRS

Name of related parties Notes Nature of transactions 2002 2001
EREATER it iF REME —BEC-F —EE-F
usg’ooo Us$'000
FET FET
Roly International and (i) Commission income 64 35
its subsidiaries AelA
2 B BB K BB A A (ii) Rental income — 25
He WA
(iii) Administrative charge 582 223
THEHR
(iv) Agency fee income — 126
KEZE KA
Turmar Limited (v) Rental expense 33 —
BEERRAF Mekx

Roly International is the Company’s ultimate holding
company and its subsidiaries are the fellow subsidiaries
of the Company.

Turmar Limited is a company owned by Mr. WANG Lu
Yen and his spouse.

For the year ended 30 April 2001, the Group disposed
of its interest in IOTA Limited to a fellow subsidiary at a
consideration of approximately US$1,000.

Notes:

(i)  Commission income is based on a percentage of the
shipment amount.

(i)  Rental income is charged based on the actual cost
incurred in proportion to the area used by a fellow

subsidiary.

(iii)  Administrative charge represents reimbursements to a
fellow subsidiary.

(iv) Agency fee income is based on a percentage of the
amount handled.
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31.

32.

Related Party Transactions (continued)

(v) Rental expense is determined based on market rate and
floor area.

Pursuant to an assignment agreement dated 1 February
2002, Linmark Westman International Ltd. assigned to
the Group all its rights and liabilities in respect of a
buying agency arrangement between a customer and
Linmark Westman International Ltd., made among
themselves when Linmark Westman International Ltd.
was a former holding company of the Group’s
subsidiaries, at nil consideration.

As at 30 April 2001, Roly International and certain
fellow subsidiaries had given corporate guarantees
amounting to approximately US$5,705,000 to banks in
respect of banking facilities granted to the Group. The
Group also provided cross guarantees with same
amounts at respective balance sheet dates to its fellow
subsidiaries. No consideration was involved in these
transactions. Such guarantees have been released
during the year.

The directors have represented that the above
transactions are based on the terms agreed by relevant
parties and in the ordinary course of business.

Retirement Benefit Schemes

(a) During the year, the Group maintained various
retirement schemes for its employees. Except for
the defined benefit
maintained in Taiwan, South Korea, Pakistan, Sri
Lanka and Bangladesh, the Group’s schemes are
defined contribution schemes, which are managed
by independent trustees. Employees’
employers’ contributions are based on various
percentages of employees’ gross salaries and
length of service. The defined benefit retirement
schemes of the Group are established and
managed by certain subsidiaries.

retirement schemes

and

31.

32.

BEREALRS #)
v BERTETEESREEEMET -

BER-_ZET_F_F—RFIUZEE
# % © Linmark Westman International
Ltd. AEEREFERAF RAEEE
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VEREREBERHECE2HENRETHE
EBTAEHE -
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32. Retirement Benefit Schemes (continued)

(b)

Under the defined benefit retirement scheme in
Taiwan and as required by the local law, the Group
makes payments based on various percentages of
employees’ gross salaries. After serving a
qualifying period, all employees are entitled to the
benefits on retirement, disability or death. The
scheme provides defined benefits based on years
of service and final average salary. The Group is
under a legal obligation to make up any shortfall in
the scheme’s assets to meet payments due to
employees. The Group has carried out its latest
actuarial valuation of the Taiwan’s scheme in April
2002. The actuaries concluded that the provision
for employee retirement benefits regarding the
Taiwan’s scheme were sufficient to meet all
benefits payable in the event of the scheme’s
termination, or the voluntary or compulsory
termination of the employment of each employee.
The expected discount rate and expected rate of
salary increase used for the valuation of the
Taiwan’s scheme are 4.5% and 3% respectively.

Under the defined benefit retirement schemes in
South Korea, Pakistan, Sri Lanka and Bangladesh,
provisions were made based on the monthly
salaries and the percentage of vesting benefit by
reference to the years of services of the
employees.

84 LINMARK GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2002

32. RIRERF& &)

(b)

RIESEZEBRBANERKGTENE
HWEPIRTE - NEBIRE S H A
BMZTEBDLMHER - FIER
BERRG BB ERER  HHEE
ERIK BARABHEZHEM -
Zat EIRBEEB R FEMRRF
BHMiEHEEETN - AREHZE
REFEZXNEZEETRIAXN
ENTREEZZIER  HEREY
ZW - AEBR_TT_FMAAR
REZFEETRIOI-RZIBEM
B - REMES BEFEIZEER
BRIREFBHE - Rer8lR ERKaE
EEMREHIRILERE - RIAE
N—ENZEH - fEFE 2
BEFRMZEA IR K LI H
FHIEE 9 Bl /4.5% K% 3% e

Rizree  BEHE  HEHRR
&R 2 FE R AR ARIRET 8 - 5K
DimEEZ AFFE - MEEAF

ZRNDERBEFEETE -



32. Retirement Benefit Schemes (continued)

(c) The details of retirement benefit schemes
contributions for the directors and employees, net
of forfeited contributions, which have been
accounted for in administrative expenses for the
year, are as follows:

32. RIKBRGFHE (&)
) BEARFETHEXZEZLE
BIRREFE B E R (BEMBIRK

HE)HBENT

2002 2001

—gB®-F -TT—%

Us$’000 US$’000

FETT FET

Gross scheme contributions SrEI R ERE 608 416
Less: Forfeited contributions B EREYEEAFE

utilised to offset H 2R W
contributions for the year — —
Net scheme contributions T8 FRF R 608 416

33. Post Balance Sheet Events
(a) On 8 May 2002, the Company issued 124,800,000
shares at HK$1.68 per share to the public and,
through a placement, to certain investors, resulting
in net cash proceeds (net of share issuance
expenses) of approximately US$24,451,000.

(b) Immediately after the above-mentioned new issue
and placement, an amount of US$9,944,000
standing to the credit of the share premium
account of the Company was capitalised for the
issuance of 497,200,000 shares of the Company to
RGS Holdings Limited, being the sole shareholder
of the Company as at 22 April 2002.

(c) The shares of the Company have been listed on
the Stock Exchange since 10 May 2002.

(d) On 27 May 2002, 23,400,000 shares of the
Company were issued at HK$1.68 per share
pursuant to the exercise of the over-allotment
option in full by DBS Asia Capital Limited.

3. AEH#EEHE
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4. iB AR ER
ARARNZEZ_FWA=+HZEE
MEBARERIMT :

34. Particulars of Subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries

as at 30 April 2002 were as follows:

Name of company

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

Issued and fully
paid share capital

Principal activities

DA B SEMB BRI, BRI it B ERTRABERAE FEEK
IGCS Group Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 Investment holding
REERRES 1€7nT RKREEZER
IGCS Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Provision of social
compliance services
BB 28T RETEEELSE
STRIES RS
IGCS International Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 Provision of social
compliance services
REERRES 1€ REHLSEELE
STRIESR®
Linmark (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Procurement agent
WE (FE) BR A A e 28T REBRIE
Linmark Agency (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands US$50,000 Investment holding
and procurement agent
REEBRES 50,0007 HREERMFRBARE
Linmark Agency (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HK$10,000 Procurement agent
Limited
s 10,000/ T  FREEHRIE
Linmark Agency (Mauritius) Ltd  Mauritius Us$2 Procurement agent
EEXH 2%t KREBRE
Linmark Development (BVI) British Virgin Islands US$1 Procurement agent
Limited
REERRES 12T HREARE
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Name of company

34. Particulars of Subsidiaries (continued)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

4. MEBRAIESR (&)

Issued and fully
paid share capital

Principal activities

AEERE AL AR 3L B SL it B ERTRBRERAE FTEEK
Linmark Development Panama US$50,000 Inactive
(Far East) Limited S.A.
EE5 50,0003 7© EmE
Linmark International Bangladesh Taka20,000 Procurement agent
(Bangladesh) Ltd.
FEap)liEas 20,0008~  HEBARIE
Linmark International Hong Kong HK$200,000 Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited and procurement agent
and trading of garment
MEREER (FE) BR QA i 200,000 7T KREZERKRMRBALE
Linmark Westman British Virgin Islands US$11 Investment holding
Investments Limited
EEBEBRES 11%€7x  HREEZER
Merchandise Creative, Inc. British Virgin Islands US$1 Procurement agent
EEBEBRES 1€t HEARRE
Merchandise Creative Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Procurement agent
BB 10,0007% 7T HERE
PT Linmark Agency Indonesia Indonesia US$100,000 Inactive
e 100,000%7c EEEK
Trend Xpress, Inc. British Virgin Islands US$1 Investment holding
EEBEBRES 127t RKREER
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Name of company

34. Particulars of Subsidiaries (continued)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

34. WEB AR ESR (&)

Issued and fully
paid share capital

Principal activities

TR SEfB AL B S i B ERTRABERE FEXK

Trend Xpress Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Investment holding
and provision of
market trend
consultancy services

B (0 ER G BR A A B 28T REERKIEHTS
B 1B WA AR 7%

Trend Xpress (Bangladesh) Ltd. Bangladesh Taka20,000 Provision of market
trend consultancy
services

Wil 20,0008~ R 5 E RIS WA A
R 7%

Trend Xpress (S) Pte. Limited Singapore S$2 Provision of market
trend consultancy
services

1 I3 2T WIS EIRERE A
R 7%
Triple S Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 Procurement agent
(formerly known as
“Waterton Limited”)
(AT 78 [Waterton Limited]) e 100,000 7T  EREBERIE
Westman Linmark (Thailand) Thailand Ordinary shares Procurement agent
Ltd. Baht2,940,000
Preference shares
Baht3,060,000
(Note)
= E @R RBARE
2,940,0002% &k
18 5 iR
3,060,000%% &k
(Kt at)
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34. Particulars of Subsidiaries (continued)

34. M AT EH (30

Place of

incorporation/ Issued and fully
Name of company establishment paid share capital Principal activities
TR AL AR 3L B SL it B ERTRBRRE FEXHK
Westman (Singapore) Private Singapore S$$200,000 Procurement agent

Limited

03 200,0003 7T RERE
Westown Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 Procurement agent
BHRERAA s 100,000 7t  IREEMRIE

Note: The preference shares are only entitled to 3.5 per cent. of
the paid-up value of the shares, prior to any dividend
distribution to the holders of ordinary shares. The voting
rights with respect to preference shares are every ten
shares for one vote. The preference shares are indirectly
controlled by the Group by way of entering into loan
agreements with the respective registered holders of
preference shares. According to the loan agreements, the
registered holders as borrowers agree to execute and
deliver to the Group any proxy which may be necessary for
attending and voting in every meeting of the shareholders
of Westman Linmark (Thailand) Ltd. and grant the Group
options to purchase their shares at the price of nominal
value of the preference shares. The Group is also
responsible for managing the operations of this company.
The Group accounts for this company as a wholly-owned
subsidiary since the Group is accountable for all of the
results of the operations. As the Group has no intention to
request the borrowers to repay the outstanding loan
amounts, the Group accounts for these amounts to
borrowers as part of investment cost.

Linmark Westman Investments Limited, Trend Xpress,
Inc. and IGCS Group Limited are directly held by the
Company. All other subsidiaries are indirectly held by
the Company.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt capital subsisting
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Biet: BARERERNMARTKRREEBZ
3.5% @ thEBRITA AR EELEIR
RE - BTREERAZE —ERE
Tfé AREEDSEZEERETHAA

RINERGH  WEEEHZEE S
Hﬁ BEBEERGZE  BERETZFAA
NEBEAZENRAZEEZEBLRE
Westman Linmark (Thailand) Ltd. &K
REAEREG EREZEMEZREE
WRFAREE  REVRERTAEE
BEERE EARKETRELRZEER
ABREZBER - AEBEAEEEZ
NAZEBEE BARAEEAHZA
RIZAEREAE  AEENUEENME
/‘*T#HEZ“TEJEE HRAEEEEE
KEBANEBEERZERBRE  HAE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY * Bi %l &

Results e
For the year ended 30 April
BZENA=1tHLEE

1999 2000 2001 2002
—NANE ZTTETF —TT-F —BB-F
Us$’000 USs$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000
FET FET FET FET
Turnover &R 19,576 27,192 32,491 29,648
Cost of sales RN — (460) (1,352) (473)
Gross profit EH 19,576 26,732 31,139 29,175
Other operating income H g & g A 560 512 1,349 1,214
Administrative expenses 1T A X (16,798) (17,740) (20,042)  (21,821)
Profit from operations 48 & i Al 3,338 9,504 12,446 8,568

Interest on obligations under B 75 A0 40 A E R B

a finance lease — — — (2)
Gain on dissolution/disposal of ~ fi& &/ H & Bt & 2 &

a subsidiary I 2= — — 911 37
Profit before taxation B %% A1 V4 A 3,338 9,504 13,357 8,603
Taxation 18 (220) (451) (490) (261)
Profit for the year FE % 5 3,118 9,053 12,867 8,342
Dividends % B 2,700 — 8,000 13,290
Earnings per share (US cents) BRAER (FM) 0.62 1.81 2.58 1.67
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Assests and Liabilities EEREE

As at 30 April
ROA=1+H
1999 2000 2001 2002
—hAhhFE —ZBEZTF T F —ZFB-F
US$’000 US$’000 USsS$’000 Us$’000
FETT FETT FETT FET
Total assets BEE 8,422 13,158 17,574 13,558
Total liabilities B E (9,868) (5,569) (4,776) (3,572)
Total net (liabilities) assets BB EEFSE (1,446) 7,589 12,798 9,986
Notes: B e -

(1)

The results for each of the three years ended 30 April 2001
which were extracted from the Prospectus have been prepared
as if the Company had always been the holding company of the
Group from the beginning of the earliest period presented in a
manner similar to the pooling of interests method.

The results for the year ended 30 April 2002 have been
extracted from the audited consolidated income statements as
set out on page 40 of the annual report.

Earnings per share has been calculated based on the profit
attributable to shareholders and the 499,200,000 shares in issue
and issuable comprising 2,000,000 shares in issue as at 30 April
2002 and 497,200,000 shares to be issued pursuant to the
capitalisation issue as more fully described in note 33(b) to the
financial statements.

(1)

(2)

(3)

HE_ZZT—FMNA=FTRHIL=ZEFEZF
B REERRER) DERARURAHEZEZE
ZE2HFAGE  MOAARE —HRABERK
SEZEERAT -

HE_ZT _FNA=1TRHILFEEEREE
BAFRFBAOAFAE 2 EEREBMER ©

AR & ) T 4R 758 A% B 1 4 ) £2499,200,000%
BETRETFETIRG (RER=-ZZT=_FNA
=+ B B 317 2 2,000,0000% i {5 & 48 1% 81 75 3R
EHEIBLFR 2 BN EBETTE FETZ
497,200,0000% f% 1) &1 & -
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CORPORATE INFORMATION o X FEH

Executive Directors

WANG Lu Yen (Chairman)

Steven Julien FENIGER (Chief Executive Officer)
FU Jin Ming, Patrick

KHOO Kim Cheng

KWOK Chi Kueng

Independent Non-Executive Directors
WANG Arthur Minshiang
WONG Wai Ming

Audit Committee
WANG Arthur Minshiang (Chairman of the Committee)
WONG Wai Ming

Company Secretary
CHEUNG Hoi Yin, Brenda

Registered Office
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

Head Office and Principal Place of Business
10th Floor, South Seas Centre, Tower I,
75 Mody Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Principal Share Registrar and Transfer Office
The Bank of Bermuda Limited
Bank of Bermuda Building, 6 Front Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and Transfer Office
Standard Registrars Limited
5th Floor, Wing On Centre, 111 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong

Auditors

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

26th Floor, Wing On Centre, 111 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong

Principal Bankers

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
10th Floor, HSBC Building Tsim Sha Tsui, 82-84 Nathan Road,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Standard Chartered Bank
23rd Floor, Standard Chartered Bank Building
4-4A Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong

Citibank, N.A.

471th Floor, Citibank Tower, Citibank Plaza,
3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong
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Design : The Design Associates Ltd.

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION e RR&E ¥

Financial Calendar 2002

Financial year ended 30 April
Full year results announced 29 July
Ex-dividend date for final dividend 5 September
Register of members closed 9 — 13 September
Annual General Meeting 13 September
Record date for final dividend 13 September

Despatch of dividend warrants (on or about) 27 September
31 October

late January 2003 *

Interim period ended
Interim results to be announced

* subject to change

Final Dividend

The board recommends the payment of a final dividend of 3.0 HK cents
per share. Subject to shareholders’ approval, the final dividend will be
payable in cash to shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company as at Friday, 13 September 2002.

Dividend warrants will be despatched to shareholders on or about Friday,
27 September 2002.

The register of members will be closed from Monday, 9 September 2002
to Friday, 13 September 2002, both dates inclusive. In order to qualify
for the proposed final dividend, all completed transfer forms accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
Hong Kong branch share registrar not later than 4.00 p.m. on Friday,
6 September 2002.

Shareholders Services

For enquiries about share transfer and registration, please contact the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar:

Standard Registrars Limited

5th Floor, Wing On Centre, 111 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong
Telephone : (852) 2528 4511

Facsimile : (852) 2545 1628

Holders of the Company’s shares should notify the Hong Kong branch
share registrar promptly of any change of addresses.

Investors Relations

For enquiries relating to investors relations, please contact:

Strategic Financial Relations Limited

Unit A, 29th Floor, Admiralty Centre |, 18 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
Telephone : (852) 2527 0490

Facsimile : (852) 2804 2789
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